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Despite the challenging macro-economic environment,
we have executed our strategy well as we drive the
Group toward a return to growth in FY21 and beyond.
Our strategy is to replicate the go-to-market strategy of the UK and
Netherlands in the US, France and Germany and we have made substantial
headway with first sales of our mid-market single platform solution in Germany
and France.
Although we are encouraged by the progress that we have made, we are also
mindful of the impact of COVID-19 which is slowing the rate of commercial
progress – whilst our pipeline is strong, demand continues to be marginally
subdued through this period and sales processes are more challenging
because of competing priorities.
Notwithstanding this, the Group's new business performance is encouraging
and combined with our return to organic growth in underlying ARR are material
indicators of our progress. Our business has proved to be robust through this
extraordinary period and our pipeline and forward revenue visibility positions
us well for the future. We're in an exciting growth market and are poised to
accelerate our growth, earnings and cash flow over the coming years.

Tim Sykes
Tim Sykes
Chief Executive Officer
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The Board
Rodney Potts
Non-Executive Director
Rodney was one of the founders and former Chief
Executive of CODA Group plc, the global provider
of accounting systems. He is a Chair of the
Remuneration Committee and a member of the
Nomination Committee and Audit Committee.

Alan Aubrey
Non-Executive Chairman
Alan is the Chief Executive Officer of IP Group plc, a FTSE
250 company that specialises in commercialising
intellectual property. He is a non-executive director of
Oxford Nanopore Technologies, a company developing a
new generation of nanopore-based electronic systems for
the analysis of DNA, and a non-executive director of
Oxford Sciences Innovation plc, a company that builds
science and technology businesses based on intellectual
property developed at Oxford University. From 2008 to
2014, he was also a non-executive director of the
Department for Business, Innovation & Skills (BIS). He is a
fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of England
and Wales. He is a member of the Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee, and the Chair of
the Audit Committee.
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Tim Sykes
Chief Executive Officer
Tim became Chief Executive Officer in January 2019 and is
responsible for leading the development and execution of the
company’s long-term strategy. He is a fellow of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants of England and Wales. Over the last 15
years, he has built up an expertise within the small cap AIM listed
market with over 25 financial years’ experience across five-10
companies as consulting CFO, before joining Proactis on a fulltime basis from January 2016. Prior to that, he held senior
positions within corporate finance at KPMG and as Commercial
Director at Mountain Warehouse.

Richard Hughes
Chief Financial Officer
Richard joined Proactis in May 2019 and, as Chief Financial
Officer, is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
operations. Richard is a fellow of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of England and Wales and has significant
international experience in financial strategy, control,
accounting, reporting, compliance and governance gained
through his senior finance roles at ARRIS International plc, Pace
plc and PwC.
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Strategic
Report
Notwithstanding the impact of the COVID-19
global
pandemic
(“COVID-19”),
the
transformation of the business is firmly on
track and is progressing as the Board had
hoped and expected. The work that the Group
undertook in the prior year to set the business
up for a return to growth is coming into
fruition and the early indicators are positive,
with the transition to replicate the go-tomarket strategy of the UK and Netherlands in
each of the US, France and Germany
territories, and the associated changes made
to team structures, now starting to gain
traction.
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Demonstrating the effectiveness of its strategy, the
resilience of the business model and the ability of the
Group’s teams to deliver despite a change in working
practices, the business has delivered a record year in
Total Contract Value (“TCV”) wins with increases
secured in virtually all markets.
Whilst the pipeline is strong and the Group’s
performance has been very encouraging, there is no
doubt that COVID-19 has had an impact on sales
processes – without this the Board is confident that
pipeline conversion would have been even stronger.
The Group is well-positioned to continue to capitalise
on the opportunities available to it and expects to
make further progress in growing the rate of new
business intake.

Company Overview

Strategic Report
Financial Review

Governance

Financial Statements

>

Strategic overview
The Group’s long-term strategy is to build an international business focused on delivering
best value to its customers through the digital transformation of their procurement systems
and processes with the application of the Group’s software technology and provision of its
expert services. The Group’s strategy can be illustrated by the following model:

Maximise
existing
customer and
technology
opportunity

Roll out
bePayd

Accelerate
new business
spend
management
momentum

Extend
supplier paid
product
portfolio

Drive adoption
of existing
supplier paid
products

This strategy is designed to deliver a strong financial proposition of profitable, cash generative organic growth with
a high level of visibility illustrated by its Annual Recurring Revenue (“ARR”) across both buyer and supplier paid
products, as defined in the additional information at the end of this document.
The Group aims to drive organic growth into its business spend management solutions by retaining existing and
winning new customers through continually improving its best in class procurement solutions with high service levels
and excellent user support as well as a focused approach to the up-selling of the Group’s extensive range of solutions,
creating even broader and deeper customer relationships.
In addition, the Group has a substantial opportunity to provide complementary products which leverage the business
spend management solutions with transactional services, tender services and the Group’s accelerated payment
facility, bePayd.
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Strategic performance
Progress against the Group’s new strategy has been encouraging with performance in line with Board and market
expectations for the year despite the emergence of COVID-19 during the period, demonstrating the resilience of the
Group's business model.
Total Contract Value ("TCV") of new business signed was strong increasing to £14.6m (2019: £11.3m) – a record high –
reflecting the Group’s investment in its marketing, sales and account management capabilities and its new go-tomarket strategy. Whilst new business deal intake was very pleasing, the performance was undoubtedly impacted by
the outbreak of COVID-19 on customer buying and implementation decisions.
The Group’s reported revenues decreased to £49.6m (2019: £54.1m). This reduction in revenue is primarily due to:
net customer losses in the prior year (net £4.7m churn in the year ended 31 July 2019), which, as a consequence of
the SaaS-based subscription model that the business operates, flows through to the current year income statement;
and
the impact from COVID-19 on the Group’s implementation services revenues and volume-based subscription
contracts, which the Board expects to normalise following the end of the pandemic.
The reduced level of travel and expense and deferred investment in further marketing and sales capacity enabled the
Group to maintain its margins and report Group Adjusted EBITDA (See additional information on page 126) of £11.8m
(2019: £15.1m), in line with market expectations and demonstrating the robustness of the Group’s business model and
the agility of its decision-making. Further, the Group Adjusted Free Cash Flow was £0.9m (2019: £6.9m). The Board
considers this financial performance to be in line with expectations and positions the Group well to continue to
capitalise on the opportunities available to it.
Reported EBITDA of £9.0m and Loss Before Tax of £19.3m is shown further within the Financial Review.
Goodwill impairment testing resulted in the need to impair goodwill in the US, France and Germany Cash Generating
Units (“CGUs”) by the amount of £14.8m. The impairment in France and Germany partly resulted from a change in
CGU reporting/measurement aligned to better report on the business. All three CGUs were also impacted from COVID19 which delayed pipeline conversion and slowed volume related businesses during the period under review. All other
CGUs showed headroom in these calculations. This is further analysed in the Financial Review.
Analysis of the non-core net expenditure and the definition of Group Adjusted EBITDA and Group Adjusted Free Cash
Flow and other alternative performance measures are included within the Financial Review and Additional Information
– reconciliation of alternative performance measures.
The Board considers that the primary value of the Group is driven by the value and momentum of its ARR and the
Group’s strategy is designed to achieve strong organic growth in that metric. This metric is a function of the following
key performance indicators, which are reviewed in detail below:
The rate and value of new deal intake and up-sell activity; and
The value of customer churn.
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Total Contact Value
The Group secured an aggregate TCV of £14.6m (2019: £11.3m), being a 29.2% increase from the previous financial
year, and a record year for the Group.
TCV was delivered from 61 new name customers (2019: 60) of which 43 (2019: 55) were subscription deals and
aggregate TCV was £9.0m (2019: £6.4m). The number of up-sell deals sold to existing customers remained at the
strong levels experienced in the prior year, remaining at 127 (2019: 127) with TCV increasing to £5.6m (2019: £4.9m).

Year ended 31 July 2020

TCV of
Number
new name
of new
deals
name deals

TCV of
upsell
deals

Number
of upsell
deals

Total TCV

Total
number
of deals

Business Spend Management
United Kingdom
France
Germany
United States
Netherlands

£3.0m
£0.8m
£0.3m
£1.8m
£3.0m

31
2
1
6
11

£3.6m
£0.8m
£1.0m
£0.2m

86
17
6
18

£6.6m
£1.6m
£0.3m
£2.8m
£3.2m

117
19
1
12
29

Supplier
Global Transactions
Proactis Tenders

£0.1m

10*

-

-

£0.1m

10

Total

£9.0m

61

£5.6m

127

£14.6m

188

TCV of
upsell
deals

Number
of upsell
deals

Total TCV

Total
number
of deals

* The Proactis Tenders business shows net wins

Year ended 31 July 2019

Business Spend Management
United Kingdom
France
Germany
United States
Netherlands
Supplier
Global Transactions
Proactis Tenders
Total

TCV of
Number
new name
of new
deals
name deals

£3.1m
£0.6m
£0.1m
£1.0m
£1.6m

35
3
2
4
10

£3.2m
£0.2m
£0.2m
£0.6m
£0.7m

107
4
3
5
7

£6.3m
£0.8m
£0.3m
£1.6m
£2.3m

142
7
5
9
17

-

6*

-

1*

-

7

£6.4m

60

£4.9m

127

£11.3m

187

* The Proactis Tenders business shows net wins

During the year the way information was internally reported changed to reflect a clearer presentation of how the
Group is operated between Business Spend Management buyer-led customers and supplier-led customers.
Comparative information has been re-presented to align to the updated analysis.
The transition to replicate the go-to-market strategy of the UK and Netherlands in each of the US, France and
Germany territories, and the associated changes made to team structures is starting to gain momentum as can be
seen with the delivery of a record year in TCV wins with increases secured in virtually all markets.
The Board is satisfied with the level of new names and up-sell deals won and the growth in pipeline during the year
and is confident that the Group is now well positioned to further accelerate this win rate in the coming financial years.
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Customer Churn
As reported previously, the Group has experienced heavy customer churn over the last two financial years in specific
customers with non-authored product deployment and, as at 31 July 2019, the Group defined these as Heightened
Risk Accounts (“HRA”).
The detail below shows the progression that the Group has made during the year against those HRAs.
£m

ARR

HRA value at the start of the year
Customer churn in year
Contracts converted to multi-year deals upon renewal
Correction of opening value

5.0
(1.8)
(1.6)
(0.2)

HRA value at the end of the year

1.4

The remaining HRAs are largely due for renewal in the following financial year.
The level of retention and conversion into multi-year deals in these accounts has been above the Board’s initial
expectations and demonstrates the Group’s renewed ability to offer alternative solutions to existing customers.
Total churn in the reported year including HRAs was £4.4m (2019: £7.3m).
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ARR
During the year COVID-19 has impacted the group in various ways, including delays in new business, deferral of project
implementation service revenues through project deferrals and reduction in volume-based contracts.
The following table analyses the Group’s ARR into three categories:
Non volume-based ARR;
Volume-based ARR; and
HRAs.

£m

2019

Growth /
(Decline)

2020

Non volume-based contracts
Volume-based contracts

26.2
13.1

8.0%
(12.2%)

28.3
11.5

Underlying ARR
HRA contracts

39.3
5.0

1.3%
(72.0%)

39.8
1.4

Total

44.3

(7.0%)

41.2

The Board is encouraged by the underlying performance of the Group’s non volume-based business with an 8%
increase in ARR from the previous reporting period.
The COVID-19 global pandemic has impacted performance adversely where customers have volume-based contracts;
principally in the Group’s Business Process Outsourcing (“BPO”), Managed Service Auctions and Invoice Capture
businesses. Further minor impacts have been experienced in the Group’s Tendering Services business where supplier
subscriptions can be viewed as discretionary marketing expenditure.
ARR movement can be analysed further as follows:

Business Spend Management
excluding HRAs (£m)
United Kingdom
France
Germany
United States
Netherlands

HRAs (£m)

Supplier (£m)
Proactis Tenders
Global Transactions

Total

2019

Growth /
(Decline)

2020

14.6
3.9
0.6
7.4
4.6

(4.8%)
18.0%
-%
2.7%
13.0%

13.9
4.6
0.6
7.6
5.2

31.1

2.6%

31.9

5.0

(72.0%)

1.4

36.1

(7.8%)

33.3

3.7
4.5

-%
(6.7%)

3.7
4.2

8.2

(3.7%)

7.9

44.3

(7.0%)

41.2

ARR as at 31 July 2020 is in line with the Board’s expectations. The NL Business Spend Management territory continued
to perform across deal wins but did suffer from a small level of expected churn. The UK Business Spend Management
territory performed better in the second half of the year but suffered larger churn overall. The US, France and Germany
Business Spend Management territories suffered from both normal churn and churn arising from HRAs but now have
teams in place and pipeline that continues to build.
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Solutions and markets performance review
Business Spend Management (Buyer) solutions
The Group provides business spend management
solutions to customers that enable those customers to
reduce the cost of goods or services purchased
through enhanced sourcing activities, access
efficiencies through the automation of manual
processes using technology and also to provide an
enhanced level of corporate governance and
compliance through work flows designed into the
technology.
Buyer revenues for the year were £41.1m (2019:
£45.0m). The decrease in the year was anticipated
following the customer churn in the previous two
financial years as well as impacts from COVID-19 on
the Group’s implementation services revenues and in
its volume based contracts.

Supplier solutions
The Group provides access to technology that enables
suppliers to transact digitally with their customers. This
technology, being driven by a buyer decision to make
a supplier pay, is often referred to as networking
technology and the technology can allow multiple
documents in any format to be passed between
suppliers and their customers and it can also allow
greater collaboration between suppliers and their
customers through the provision of other trading
information. In addition, the Group uses its technology
to deliver tailored new business opportunities to
suppliers through its search and selection of a vast
number of new business opportunities, tenders, from
a number of international sources.
Revenues for the year were £8.5m (2019: £9.1m). The
Proactis Tenders business in the UK was broadly in line
with the previous year with revenue of £4.1m (2019:
£4.2m). Revenue from the Global Transactions
business segment was £4.4m, £0.5m lower than the
prior year (2019: £4.9m) as COVID-19 impacted this
business segment with a lower number of transactions
being generated by suppliers with their customers.
The Board is aware of the variability in volume related
areas of the Group’s business and will continue to
monitor performance closely.
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Financial solutions
The Group has recently brought its new early
settlement solution, bePayd, to market. The solution
allows suppliers to accelerate the payment of a
customer approved invoice in return for a small
discount and is primarily aimed at the long tail of small
suppliers in the supply chain, a population that is
underserved. At launch, the solution is market leading
in its simplicity, speed and convenience without any
detriment to security or risk. The solution is entirely
flexible down to single invoice level with extremely low
values because of the end to end automation of the
process. Funding of the early settlement can be
provided by either the customer or Proactis (through a
dedicated facility with HSBC) or a blended model.
Early adopters have been identified and the Group
looks forward to implementation and working with
these customers to roll out the solution with a view to
testing and optimising take-up within their supply
chains.

Markets
The Group offers true multi-company, multi-currency
and multi-language capabilities and this remains an
essential differentiator as the Group increases its
presence across more sectors worldwide. The Group
continues to sell its solutions to customers operating
across several continents and many different sectors.
The Group competes on various levels; local vendors,
Enterprise Resource Planning (“ERP”) vendors and
international procurement vendors and this mix makes
for an extremely competitive environment. The “endto-end” message and tight integration techniques
mitigate this and positions the Group as a value-led
solution against both big ticket, consultancy-led ERP
vendors, international procurement vendors’ solutions
and potential multi-vendor software-led solutions.
This value proposition is particularly compelling for
mid-sized commercial and public sector organisations,
both of which the Group is focused on across all of its
business segments.
The Group’s go-to-market strategy is based on a
targeted and efficient deployment of its marketing and
sales resource within each market segment it operates
in. Within those segments, the Group seeks to
maximise its return by selecting verticals where its
solutions fit well and are referenceable and, with
thorough research and with experiential grounding,
can attain a leading position as the default provider.
This strategy is at varying levels of maturity within the
Group’s business segments and the Board looks
forward to the potential accelerated growth rates that
could result.
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Operational Review
Following the operational review in 2019, the Group changed strategy to focus on the review’s resultant action areas, being:
Target market segment and customer profile definition;
Alignment of product portfolio;
Bolstering new business capabilities;
Focusing on retention;
Driving growth within the existing customer base;
Active management and leadership; and
Financial position.
An update on the progress against each of these areas is given below:

Targeted area

Update

Further reading

Target market
segment and
customer profile
definition

The Group is now well positioned with appropriate teams
in place across its buyer businesses to target a consistent
market segment and customer profile that is well defined
around the variables of vertical focus, scale, complexity,
existing technology stack and the procurement process of
the customer.

Refer to analysis across
Business Spend
Management and
Supplier customers on
page 12.

Alignment of
product portfolio

The Concept of One in the industry in which the Group
operates is a rare commodity. The Group has an extensive
product portfolio arising from the Group’s acquisition
history. The Board recognises this and has a project
underway to better leverage those products that deliver in
line with the Group’s strategic plan.

Further information on the
Group’s values can be
found in the Strategic
Report on page 15.

Bolstering new
business capabilities

Teams are now in place across the Group’s buyer business
locations in end-to-end sales (lead generation, field
marketing, sales and account management) in order to
replicate the performance of the UK and Netherlands buyer
businesses.

A record high in TCV wins
during the year shows
momentum in this area.
Refer to page 9.

Focusing on retention

At the end of the previous financial year the Group
highlighted specific customer accounts that demonstrated
a high level of churn risk. These have been actively tracked
and mitigated where appropriate during the year.

Updates on HRAs and
overall customer retention
is given on page 10.

Driving growth within
existing customer
base

TCV arising from up-sells during the year have increased
by 14%. This is encouraging, but the Board believes that
greater performance in this will follow on from the
trajectory of new business wins.

TCV from up-sells is
shown on page 9.

Active management
and leadership

All teams are now in place to start to deliver against the
Group’s strategy apart from a US Market Director, where
the Group’s UK Market Director continues to cover both
territories until the US business transition has been fully
completed.

Information about the
Group’s strategy can be
found in the Strategic
Report on page 7.

Financial position

During the year the Group announced a fundamental reset
of its bank facilities with HSBC UK.

This is discussed further in
Note 1 on page 76.
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Vision, mission and positioning
During the year, and as part of the Group’s growth
strategy a new vision, mission and positioning statement
was developed. These are shown below and have
become the principles of the Group.

Mission
Vision
to realise digital
trade for all.
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to partner with and
challenge organisations to
realise the benefits of digital
business processes using
our innovative technology
and our team’s expertise.
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Positioning statement
Proactis is a long-term business partner
that is dedicated to realising the benefits of
digital business processes with a strong
return on investment for our customers
We use proven innovative technology that
is constantly being enhanced and
improved, along with the expertise of our
team, to actively collaborate with
customers to develop solutions that deliver
a consumer-style experience and that
meet their needs today and in the future.
We help customers challenge how they
execute business processes and then
transform them to deliver cost savings,
create process efficiencies and improve
control, compliance and visibility.

Our values
The Group has created the following values
which will help manage our relationships with
the Group’s stakeholders and communities:
Our customers
We will share ownership of our customers’
success and their return on investment.
Our people
We will support our people to be successful
by providing enriching experiences within a
mutually respectful relationship.
Our planet
We will make decisions and policies that
protect our planet.
Our quality
We will deliver quality in every aspect of what
we do.
Our Concept of One
We believe in simplicity, scalability
and efficiency through singularity.
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M&A strategy and activity
The Group’s M&A strategy continues to be to acquire businesses that fit strict selection criteria based around the
following principles:
Consolidation of complementary customer bases and solutions - the procurement space is sufficiently fragmented
to offer significant scope for this;
Businesses with long-term customer relationships, ideally contracted and with a proven track record of retention
and renewal;
Technology-led solutions and service offerings that are complementary to the Group’s existing offering; and
Technology that is compatible with the Group’s existing technology.
The Board is mindful that, despite the obvious potential accelerated growth that can be delivered, further M&A activity
at this point could be too punitive from an equity dilution perspective and the Board is reluctant to increase gearing
further at this time.

COVID-19
The Board and Executive Leadership Team (“ELT”) continue to closely monitor the impacts of COVID-19 on the Group’s
businesses. Revenue impacts referenced earlier within this report have largely been offset by natural cost savings as
a consequence of changes to operational and commercial management throughout the pandemic, where travel costs
and marketing expenditure have been changed to support virtual working practices and previously anticipated
investment in further growth has been deferred.

Directors
Following the end of the financial year, both Sean McDonough and Sophie Tomkins resigned from the Board. Sean
resigned on 30 September 2020 but will stay an employee of the Group until his notice period ends on 30 September
2021; and Sophie resigned on 5 October 2020 with immediate effect.
The Board remains committed to strong corporate governance and in line with its earlier commitment to strengthen
the independence of its non-executive directors, the Board is already undertaking a formal search process, with a
number of candidates identified. This search will now also include the process of appointing Sophie's replacement.

Corporate Update
As reported previously, at the end of the previous financial year the Group commenced a formal sales process
(as defined under the Takeover Code) to enable the Board to explore a number of approaches and expressions
of interest which the Board considered had the potential to provide benefit to the Group's stakeholders. A
comprehensive process was run to assess the credibility of interested parties and their ability to deliver an offer
or strategic outcome that could be recommended to shareholders however, it did not lead to any firm proposals
being received and the process was terminated. The Board is confident this was the right result for the business,
as the Group has made significant headway in delivering against the revised strategy and the Board considers
that superior shareholder value will be achieved by focusing the Group's efforts on delivery of this strategy.

Brexit
The Board’s assessment of the impact on Brexit remains in line with the previous financial year. The Group has
significant operations with staff and customers based within the member states of the European Union (”EU”), United
Kingdom and United States. The Board acknowledges the continued uncertainty around Brexit and it considers that
the Group is unlikely to be impacted significantly because the Group is not a large importer or exporter of goods or
services across EU borders. The Board continues to monitor the situation.
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Section 172 (1) statement
The Board of Directors of Proactis Holdings plc consider both individually and together, that they have acted in the
way they consider, in good faith, would be most likely to promote success of the company for the benefit of its members
as a whole (having regard to the stakeholders and matter set out in s172(1)(a)-(f) of the Companies Act 2006) in the
decisions taken during the year ended 31 July 2020. Specific matter with regards to s172(1)(a)-(f) are discussed further
in the Directors’ Report on page 51.

Outlook
Proactis is a profitable, SaaS based software company delivering compelling solutions to an exciting growth market.
Our strategy is well founded and is starting to deliver the outcomes we had planned for with an improvement in both
new business and churn performance enabling the Group to return to underlying ARR growth.
Accordingly, the Board is optimistic about the future prospects of the Group with an anticipation of a return to growth
in the short term and an acceleration of that in the longer term as its go-to-market strategy matures in France,
Germany and the United States. The Board is also confident that bePayd will progress commercially along a similar
timeframe.
The Board is, however, cognisant of the difficult external factors that are introducing an additional layer of risk into
sales processes and, whilst current pipeline is strong and supportive of the Group’s short-term objectives, it is therefore
prudently managing operating margin and discretionary investment in order to ensure that the Group underpins its
growth expectation with advances in earnings and cash flow in the current and future years.

By order of the Board

Alan Aubrey
Chairman

Tim Sykes
Chief Executive Officer
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Financial
Review
(forming part of the Strategic Report)

Trading
The Group’s reported revenues decreased by 8% to £49.6m (2019: £54.1m). Adjusted revenues were £49.2m after
removing revenue relating to a non-core part of the business classified as held for sale at the year end. Refer to Note
22 for further detail.
The Group’s business model, which is guided by the appropriate accounting standards and internal policies, means
that revenue recognised in the income statement is largely a function of the deals (both new name and upsell) that
were signed in the previous year, rather than the year in which those deals were actually signed. This timing difference
can routinely be between six and 12 months before income statement recognition.
The Group’s strategy is to grow by a combination of organic, through provision of software and associated services,
and inorganic means and therefore total reported revenue is a key performance indicator as the Group looks to
continue to drive toward scale. Growth very recently has come through acquisition means and during the previous
financial year the Group’s operational review delivered strategic action points which if delivered correctly would return
the levels of organic growth that the business has historically shown.
The Group’s long-term revenue growth performance as represented by a three-year cumulative average growth rate
was 25% (2019: 41%).
The Board monitors the Group’s growth performance through a combination of several key performance indicators
as follows:

Reported revenue
Reported revenue growth
Adjusted revenue **
CAGR 3-year revenue growth*
TCV of new name deals
Number of new name deals
TCV of upsell deals
Number of upsell deals
Total deal value signed
* Includes impact of acquisitions
** Refer to Note 22
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Year ended 31 July
2020

Year ended 31 July
2019

Year ended 31 July
2018

£49.6m
(8%)
£49.2m
25%
£9.0m
61
£5.6m
127
£14.6m

£54.1m
4%
N/A
41%
£6.4m
60
£4.9m
127
£11.3m

£52.2m
106%
N/A
45%
£8.7m
64
£3.4m
113
£12.1m
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Revenue by territory segment
Reported revenue in the year is shown below split by Business Spend Management ("Buyer") and Supplier businesses.
Revenue reductions in all areas other than the Netherlands business was driven by churn in the previous two financial
years as a consequence of the Group’s SaaS-based subscription model, along with COVID-19 impacts in volumerelated parts of the Group.
The Group’s reported revenues by market segment were:

Year ended 31 July 2020
£m

Year ended 31 July 2019
£m

Business Spend Management revenue
United Kingdom
France
Germany
United States
Netherlands

17.1
5.8
1.9
10.1
6.2

18.8
6.2
2.6
11.7
5.7

Supplier revenue
Proactis Tenders
Global Transactions

4.1
4.4

4.2
4.9

49.6

54.1

Revenue is in line with the Board’s expectation when taking into account the impact of COVID-19 on various parts of
the Group, along with the effect on the anticipated growth arising from the Group’s operational strategy. Revenue
performance in the year has been impacted both by COVID-19 and the net customer loss position in the prior year
(net £4.7m churn in the year ended 31 July 2019).

Revenue visibility
ARR is a key performance indicator giving the Board visibility of the Group’s annualised run rate of contracted
subscription, managed service, support and hosting revenues. It provides the Group’s stakeholders with real indicators
of:
The amount of revenue from new business required to be won in order to hit expectations in future periods;
The level of debt that the business can conservatively support and hence assist in the overall return to investors;
and
The overall strength of the Group.
The Group’s ARR can be analysed as follows:
Business Spend Management excluding HRAs
United Kingdom
France
Germany
United States
Netherlands

HRAs
Supplier
Proactis Tenders
Global Transactions

Total

31 July 2020
£m

31 July 2019
£m

13.9
4.6
0.6
7.6
5.2

14.6
3.9
0.6
7.4
4.6

31.9

31.1

1.4

5.0

33.3

36.1

3.7
4.2

3.7
4.5

7.9

8.2

41.2

44.3

Underlying ARR growth in France and United States Business Spend Management markets is encouraging as these
territories transition to the Group’s growth strategy. Germany was stable, however pipeline is building in each of those
locations as a result of the operational changes and target markets focus that have previously been disclosed. The
Board expects ARR growth in all Business Spend Management markets in the forthcoming financial year.
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Gross margin
The presentation of the Group’s reported results does not include the sub-total of gross profit in order to better reflect
the reality of the Group’s operational performance. Gross margin is, however, a relevant measure of performance
when considered as revenues less cost of third-party revenue share or products.
The Group’s business partners and its own direct sales effort sold contracts under both the subscription and perpetual
business models delivering a consistent gross margin from the previous year of 88%, defined as revenue less cost of
sales.

Staff costs and other operating expenses
The aggregate of staff costs and other operating expenses (excluding depreciation of property, plant and equipment
and amortisation of intangibles assets) increased during the year to £35.5m (2019: £34.1m).
This part of the Group’s costs has included significant items of income or expenditure over recent years associated
primarily with the Group’s acquisition activity and the resultant integration or restructuring programmes (together,
“non-core net expenditure”). The impact of this non-core net expenditure on the aggregate of staff costs and other
operating expenses is as follows:
Year ended 31 July
2020
£m

Year ended 31 July
2019
£m

Aggregate of staff costs and other operating expenses (reported)
Non-core net expenditure

35.5
(2.8)

34.1
(1.2)

Aggregate of staff costs and other operating expenses
(excluding non-core net expenditure)

32.7

32.9

Year ended 31 July
2020
£m

Year ended 31 July
2019
£m

0.4
0.9
0.1
0.7
0.7

0.1
(0.9)
1.6
0.4
0.4
(0.4)

2.8

1.2

Non-core net expenditure (see additional information) can be analysed as follows:

Expenses of acquisition related activities
Release of contingent consideration
Loss arising from asset held for sale
Costs of restructuring the Group’s operations – staff
Costs of restructuring the Group’s operations – other
Legal and professional fees
Foreign exchange impacts

Capitalised development costs and costs of software for own use were £8.5m (2019: £7.6m). The income statement
includes a total charge for the amortisation of capitalised development costs and costs of software for own use of
£7.2m (2019: £6.7m).

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
The charge to depreciation of property, plant and equipment increased to £1.6m (2019: £0.6m). The current year charge
includes a charge relating to IFRS 16 adoption from 1 August 2019 of £1.1m.

Amortisation of intangible assets
The charge to amortisation of intangible assets increased to £10.6m (2019: £10.1m) due to the increase in development
costs capitalised in the previous year following the Esize acquisition.
Goodwill is tested for impairment on an annual basis which resulted in the value in use calculations performed as at
31 July 2020 indicating the need to impair goodwill in the US, France and Germany Cash Generating Units (“CGUs”)
by the amount of £14.8m (2019: £27.0m impairment against the US CGU). The UK, Netherlands, Global Transactions,
Proactis Tenders and bePayd showed headroom in these calculations. The value in use calculations were sensitised
for reasonably possible changes in key assumptions.
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Interest
The Group incurred a net interest charge of £1.0m (2019: £1.4m) of which £1.3m (2019: £1.3m) was bank interest arising
from the Group’s banking facilities. The other elements relate to the fair value, foreign exchange and interest impacts
from convertible loan notes, and IFRS 16 Leases.

Taxation
The Group has reported a net charge in its income statement of £0.02m (2019: £0.7m) resulting primarily from the
impact of changes in deferred tax balances (see Note 9).
The Group’s charge to current year income tax was £0.4m which was an effective rate of 5% against chargeable profit
before tax of £7.2m. This is below the weighted average income tax rate for the jurisdictions that the Group operates
in because of the utilisation of tax losses and allowances within the Group which the Board considers will provide longterm benefit.
The Group recognises deferred tax assets related to tax losses of £0.8m (2019: £0.8m).

Reported profit and Group Adjusted profit performance
The Board considers that each of the two years ended 31 July 2020 have been significantly impacted by non-core net
expenditure incurred primarily as part of the Group’s acquisition and restructuring activity. A summary of the various
profit measures is set out below.
Year ended 31 July
2020
1
Reported 1Adjusted

Revenue
Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation
(‘EBITDA’)1
Operating (loss)/profit
(Loss)/profit before tax
Earnings/(loss) per share (see Note 10)

Year ended 31 July
2019
Reported Adjusted

£49.6m

£49.2m

£54.1m

N/A

£9.0m
(£18.4m)
(£19.3m)
(19.9p)

£11.8m
£4.0m
£2.6m
2.9p

£13.9m
(£24.4m)
(£25.8m)
(27.9p)

£15.1m
£8.8m
£7.5m
6.6p

Note 1: See Additional Information – Reconciliation of alternative performance measures and Note 22.

Cash flow
The Group reported net cash from operating activities of £8.0m (2019: £11.9m) which is higher than the reported
operating loss of the Group of £18.4m (2019: £24.4m). Cash flows for the year ended 31 July 2020 were affected by
£0.3m (2019: £0.6m) of costs that were charged in the income statement during the year ended 31 July 2019 and
accrued at 31 July 2019 but paid during the year ended 31 July 2020. The cash flow for the year ended 31 July 2020
was also impacted by non-core net expenditure charged to the income statement during the current financial year
related principally to the restructuring programme.
An analysis of the Group Adjusted Free Cash Flow is as follows:
Year ended 31 July
2020
£m

Reported Net cash flow from operating activities
Non-core net expenditure incurred in prior year but paid in current year
Non-core net expenditure charged and paid within the same year
Adjusted Net cash flow from operating activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
Development expenditure capitalised
Adjusted Group Net Free Cash Flow

Year ended 31 July
2019
£m

8.0
0.3
1.6

11.9
0.6
2.6

9.9
(0.5)
(8.5)

15.1
(0.6)
(7.6)

0.9

6.9

The Group paid a cash dividend of £Nil (2019: £1.4m) to its equity investors.
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Internal news

Global expansion
Despite the current situation,
we have continued our global
expansion and welcomed new
additions to our teams in France,
Germany, the Netherlands,
Philippines, UK and US.
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Net bank debt
The Group reported net bank debt of £37.1m at 31 July 2020 (2019: £36.5m), comprising total cash balances of £5.5m
(2019: £7.7m) and gross bank debt of £42.6m (2019: £44.2m) of which £0.9m is payable within one year.
The analysis of net bank debt above excludes the remaining $3.75m convertible loan notes issued as part of the Perfect
acquisition as well as the €4.0m of convertible loan notes issued as part of the Esize acquisition.

Earnings per share
Basic loss per share was 19.9p (2019: 27.9p). The Group reports adjusted profit per share measure (see Note 10) of
2.9p per share (2019: 6.6p) to take account of non-core net expenditure (as shown in the additional information) and
other factors.

Dividend policy
The Board announced in April 2019 that it had decided to suspend the payment of an annual dividend. Therefore, no
final dividend is proposed (2019: Nil).

Treasury
The Group manages its cash position in a manner designed to minimise interest payable on its structured finance
facilities. Surplus cash funds are used to reduce debt.

By order of the Board

Richard Hughes
Chief Financial Officer

28 October 2020
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Edinburgh Napier
University selects Proactis
to manage purchasing
from approved suppliers

24

The University was looking to drive best
value, improve compliance, and streamline
operations by taking more control of
institution-wide purchasing. Working with
Proactis, it identified that providing
employees with a single online destination
where they can quickly and easily find,
compare and choose what they need from
preferred suppliers – utilising catalogues,
contracts and collaborative frameworks
within the higher education sector – was
the perfect strategy.

Customer wins UK

We want to ensure that buyers
around the wider organisation
are able to access goods and
services easily, when they want,
and at the best possible price. By
adopting Proactis, there are
many benefits to the University
as well as our suppliers.
Head of Procurement,
Edinburgh Napier University.
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Corporate
Governance
The directors believe strongly in the value and importance
of good corporate governance and in their accountability
to all of Proactis’ stakeholders, including shareholders,
staff, customers, partners and other suppliers.
In this section of our report we have set out our approach to governance and
provided further information on how the Board and its Committees operate.
The Board believes that it complies with all of the principles of the QCA Corporate
Governance Code for growing Companies (“QCA code”) other than as stated below.
The corporate governance framework which the Group operates, including Board
leadership and effectiveness, Board remuneration, and internal control is based upon
practices which the Board believes are proportional to the size, risks, complexity and
operations of the business and reflective of the Group’s values.
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Corporate Governance

>

Audit Committee Report >
Directors’ Remuneration
Report
>

Composition of the Board
The QCA Code requires that the boards of AIM
companies have an appropriate balance between
executive and non-executive directors of which at least
two should be independent. During the period under
review Proactis has not complied with this requirement
as it did not have non-executive directors deemed
independent prior to October 2018 as both Alan
Aubrey (Chairman) and Rodney Potts (Non-executive
Director) are not considered independent. Sophie
Tomkins was an independent non-executive director
and was Chair of the Remuneration Committee during
the period. Sophie resigned from the Board on 5
October 2020. The Board has the intention to recruit
further independent non-executive directors such that
at least half of the Board, excluding the Chair, are
independent non-executive directors.

Directors’ Report

>

Statement of Directors’
Responsibilities

>

Independent Auditor’s
Report to the members of
Proactis Holdings plc
>

Following the recruitment of the additional nonexecutive directors the Board intends to appoint an
Audit Committee Chair and a Chair of the
Remuneration Committee.
The Chairman is responsible for leading the Board,
setting its agenda and monitoring its effectiveness.
There is a clear division of responsibility between the
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer.

Audit Committee

2

The Audit Committee has
primary responsibility for
monitoring the quality of
internal controls and
ensuring that the financial
performance of the Group
is properly measured
and reported on.

Executive
Directors
Committees
The Board
The operation of the
Board is documented in
a formal schedule of
matters reserved for its
approval, which is
reviewed annually.

2

Non-executive
Directors

The Board has delegated specific
responsibilities to the Audit and
Remuneration Committees. Each
Committee has written terms of
reference setting out its duties,
authority and reporting
responsibilities. Copies of all the
Committee terms of reference are
available on the Group’s website.
These terms of reference are kept
under review to ensure they remain
appropriate and reflect any
changes in legislation, regulation
or best practice.

Remuneration
Committee
The Remuneration Committee
reviews the performance of
the executive directors and
makes recommendations to
the Board on matters relating
to their remuneration and
terms of employment.
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How the Board operates
The Board is responsible for the Group’s strategy and for its overall management. The strategic report on pages 6 to
23 summarises the Board’s approach to promote sustainable long-term growth and value for shareholders. The
operation of the Board is documented in a formal schedule of matters reserved for its approval, which is reviewed
annually. These include matters relating to the Group’s:

Corporate
governance
matters
Delegation of
authority

Communication

Capital
structure and
ownership

Policies

The Board
Board membership
and appointments

Contracts

Financial
reporting and
controls

Remuneration
Business
strategy
assessment

Board meetings
Non-executive directors communicate directly with executive directors and senior management between formal
board meetings. The Board met nine times in the period either virtually or face to face. In addition, the Board held a
risk and strategy day in January 2020 specifically to review growth opportunities and priorities across the medium
to longer term.
Directors are expected to attend all meetings of the Board, and of the Committees on which they sit, and to devote
sufficient time to the Group’s affairs to enable them to fulfil their duties as directors. In the event that directors are
unable to attend a meeting, their comments on papers to be considered at the meeting will be discussed in advance
with the Chairman so that their contribution can be included in the wider Board discussion. The following table
shows directors’ attendance at scheduled Board and Committee meetings during the period:
Board meetings

Committee meetings

Possible Attended

Non-executive Directors
Alan Aubrey
Rodney Potts
Sophie Tomkins1
Executive Directors
Tim Sykes
Richard Hughes
Sean McDonough2

Audit
Possible Attended

9
9
9

9
9
9

1
1
1

1
1
1

3
3
3

3
3
3

9
9
9

9
9
9

-

-

-

-

1 Sophie Tomkins resigned from the Board on 5 October 2020
2 Sean McDonough resigned from the Board on 30 September 2020. Sean will remain employed by the Company during his 12-month notice period
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Board decisions and activity during the period
The Board has a schedule of regular business, financial and operational matters, and each Board Committee has
compiled a schedule of work to ensure that all areas for which the Board has responsibility are addressed and reviewed
during the course of the year. The Chairman, aided by the Company Secretary, is responsible for ensuring that, to
inform decision-making, directors receive accurate, sufficient and timely information.
The Company Secretary compiles the Board and Committee papers which are circulated to directors prior to meetings.
The Company Secretary also ensures that any feedback or suggestions for improvement on Board papers is fed back
to management.
The Company Secretary provides minutes of each meeting and every director is aware of the right to have any concerns
minuted and to seek independent advice at the Group’s expense where appropriate. The Board reviews its AIM
obligations with its Nominated Advisor annually, and endeavours to keep up with best practice governance via
seminars, conferences and training material.

Board Committees
The Board has delegated specific responsibilities to the Audit and Remuneration Committees, details of which are set
out below.
Each Committee has written terms of reference setting out its duties, authority and reporting responsibilities. Copies
of all the Committee terms of reference are available on the Group’s website or by request from the Company Secretary.
These terms of reference are kept under review to ensure they remain appropriate and reflect any changes in legislation,
regulation or best practice. Each Committee comprises non-executive directors of the Group.
Independent external advice was sought by the Remuneration Committee in respect of executive director and senior
management share awards. No other external advice was sought by the Board or its Committees during the period.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee is chaired by Alan Aubrey and its other member is Rodney Potts. Sophie Tomkins was also a
member of the Committee until her resignation on 5 October 2020. During the period under consideration she was
considered fully independent.
The Audit Committee has primary responsibility for monitoring the quality of internal controls and ensuring that the
financial performance of the Group is properly measured and reported on. It receives and reviews reports from the
Group’s management and auditor relating to the annual accounts and the accounting and internal control systems in
use throughout the Group. It reviews the risk register to ensure that it is comprehensive and that appropriate mitigations
are in place. It also advises the Board on the appointment of the auditor, reviews their fees and discusses the nature,
scope and results of the audit with the auditor.
The Audit Committee meets at least once a year and has unrestricted access to the Group’s auditor. The Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer attend the Committee meetings by invitation.

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee is chaired by Rodney Potts following the resignation of Sophie Tomkins on 5 October
2020. Its other member is Alan Aubrey.
The Remuneration Committee reviews the performance of the executive directors and makes recommendations to the
Board on matters relating to their remuneration and terms of employment. The Remuneration Committee also makes
recommendations to the Board on proposals for the granting of share options and other equity incentives pursuant
to any share option scheme or equity incentive scheme in operation from time to time. The remuneration and terms
and conditions of appointment of the non-executive directors of the Group are set by the Board.
The Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer are invited to attend for some parts of the Committee meetings
where their input is required, although they do not take part in any discussion on their own benefits and remuneration.
The Directors' Remuneration Report on pages 40 to 47 contains more detailed information on the Committee’s role
and the directors’ remuneration and fees.
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Nominations Committee
It is the view of the Board that a separate Nominations Committee is not required at present. If the needs of the business
change, a Nominations Committee will be formed.
It has been agreed that the main Board will undertake the activities of Board appointments, re-election and succession,
with a view to ensuring that the Board is composed of individuals with the necessary skills and to promote a culture
that fosters diversity.
As part of the annual Board evaluation and strategic review processes, the Board considered matters relating to Board
composition and succession planning during the period.

Internal controls and risk management
The Board has ultimate responsibility for the Group’s system of internal controls and for reviewing its effectiveness.
Any such system of internal control can provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material misstatement
or loss. However, the Board considers that the internal controls in place are appropriate for the size, complexity and
risk profile of the Group.
The principal risks faced by the business are summarised on pages 54 and 55.
The principal elements of the Group’s internal control system include:
Close management of the day-to-day activities of the Group by the Executive Leadership Team (“ELT”);
An organisational structure with defined levels of responsibility, which promotes entrepreneurial decision making
and agile implementation whilst mitigating risks;
Segregation of duties so no individual can have undue influence or control over an activity, process or transaction;
A comprehensive annual budgeting process, producing a detailed integrated profit and loss, balance sheet and
cash flow, which is approved by the Board;
Ongoing forecasting processes at various levels of detail during the year, which are reviewed by the Board;
Detailed monthly reporting of performance against budget/forecast; and
Central control over key areas such as banking facilities.

The Group continues to review its system of internal control to ensure adherence to best practice, whilst also having
regard to its size and the resources available. The Board considers that the introduction of an internal audit function
is not appropriate at this juncture.
The Board retains a risk register for the Group that identifies key risks in the areas of corporate strategy, finance,
customers, staff, technology and operations. This is reviewed at least annually as part of the Group’s strategic planning
process. It is expected that new risks arising will be identified and managed through the management framework
designed by the ELT and those risks will be communicated to the Board where necessary with precautionary or
remedial action taken as appropriate. The ELT consists of experienced personnel in enterprise class application
software environment and in business more generally.

Board effectiveness
The Board has undertaken an evaluation of its effectiveness. Input was obtained from every Board member on a
number of key topics including:
The effectiveness of the Board in setting strategy;
Confirmation that rigorous and wide-ranging debate of issues was taking place;
That decision making was balanced and objective;
That the Board was responsive to new events and new information; and
That the Board had the appropriate composition and skill to discharge its duties.
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The skills and experience of the Board are set out in their biographical details on pages 4 and 5. The experience and
knowledge of each of the directors gives them the ability to constructively challenge strategy and to scrutinise
performance. The Board considers that each executive and non-executive director has the following relevant experience:

Non-executive Directors
Alan Aubrey
Rodney Potts
Executive Directors
Tim Sykes
Richard Hughes

Financial
Management

International
Business

Leadership
& Values

Technology
& Operations

Industry
Experience

Y
-

Y
Y

Y
Y

Y
Y

Y
Y

Y
Y

Y
Y

Y
Y

Y
Y

Y
Y

The Board meets regularly with external experts including the NOMAD to ensure that it remains abreast of
developments and current best practice.
The Board fully supports the QCA Code’s principle to review regularly the effectiveness of the Board’s performance as
a unit, as well as that of its committees and individual directors.
The Board again engaged an external party during August 2020 in order to evaluate the directors’ individual
assessments of the Board. The outcomes of this process were predominantly around risk management, and Board
composition, contribution and information. These areas have been discussed openly at Board level and actions in
each of those areas agreed for the forthcoming year. The Board intends to engage in this external process again
during this financial year.

Business culture, values and behaviours
The Group’s long-term growth is underpinned by its ability to develop long-term relationships with its customers
through the provision of leading technology and complementary services over an extended period of time, which can
only be achieved through the display of the highest ethical values and behaviours. These ethical values and behaviours,
as demonstrated by the Group’s relationships with its customers, is mirrored with its dealings with its staff, its business
partners and its shareholders and other stakeholders.
The Board plays a full part in the evolution of that culture through its behaviours and its actions and the ELT is
responsible for mirroring those behaviours and actions within the business. This has included the following activities:
The bringing together of the multiple brand names in the market to one single brand name, Proactis;
The definition of the brand itself, creating an expectation of what a customer, or any other stakeholder, should
expect from Proactis;
The recruitment process includes an assessment of the candidate’s ability to live to the brand;
The initiation of structured appraisal processes on a consistent basis, where possible, for all team members;
The coordination of the territory-based Human Resources functions across the Group to create a consistency of
content within the appraisal, where possible; and
The promotion of the concept of transparency and openness, which can be illustrated in physical form by the
controlled removal of all internal management offices as part of a rolling office refit programme.

Time commitments
All directors recognise the need to commit sufficient time to fulfil the role. This requirement is included in their letters of
appointment.
The Board is satisfied that the Chairman and non-executive directors are able to devote sufficient time to the Group’s
business.
There has been no significant change in the Chairman’s other time commitments since his appointment.
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Development
The Company Secretary ensures that all directors are kept abreast of changes in relevant legislation and regulations,
with the assistance of the Group’s advisers where appropriate.
Executive directors are subject to the Group’s performance review process through which their performance against
predetermined objectives is reviewed and their personal and professional development needs considered.
An annual performance appraisal of non-executive directors is undertaken by the Chairman as part of the Board
evaluation process, at which time any training or development needs are addressed.
All of the Board attend business conferences and briefings.

External appointments
As appropriate, the Board may authorise executive directors to take non-executive positions in other companies and
organisations, provided the time commitment does not conflict with the director’s duties to the Group, since such
appointments should broaden their experience.
The acceptance of appointment to such positions is subject to the approval of the Chairman.

Conflicts of interest
At each meeting the Board considers directors’ conflicts of interest. The Group’s Articles of Association provide for the
Board to authorise any actual or potential conflicts of interest.

Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance
The Group maintains directors' and officers' liability insurance as allowed by the Group’s articles.

Election of directors
The Board has raised a resolution in this year’s AGM to amend its Articles so that all continuing directors of the Group
will offer themselves for election or re-election annually at the Annual General Meeting.

Relations with Stakeholders
The Group maintains communication with a wide range of stakeholders to ensure that their needs, interests and
expectations are understood and reflected within the Group’s strategy.
The Group seeks customer feedback on its solutions in order to understand and measure its performance through
Customer Advisory Boards and through its Customer Account Management processes. It takes forward requests for
new solutions and enhancements to existing solutions.
The Group’s interaction with its staff is managed centrally and delivered locally and is sensitive to local custom and
law. The ELT and other media are used to communicate through the organisation with an open invitation to staff to
ask questions of management that are not answered in the briefings.
The Group employs Business Partner Managers who are key staff members, enabling our Business Partners to be
successful through a mutually supportive relationship where the Business Partners have access to all elements of the
Group’s operations.
The Group also supports and encourages staff to undertake activities which support local charities and good causes.
Participation in apprenticeship and other schemes to support and provide opportunities to young people.
The Board has a framework in place designed to capture changes in regulation and operating standards across all of
its territories including the membership of trade bodies, the use of outside counsel and expert advisory services and
the employment of skilled staff with responsibility to remain current in their understanding of regulatory change.
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Relations with shareholders
Investor relations are managed by the CEO with support from the CFO from time to time.
The Group is committed to communicating openly with its shareholders to ensure that its strategy and performance
are clearly understood. The Board communicates with shareholders through the Annual Report and Accounts, fullyear and half-year announcements, trading updates, the annual general meeting (“AGM”) and through numerous
face-to-face or virtual meetings.
In addition to structured roadshows following the release of full year and interim results meetings with existing and
potential new investors are held, the Board also promotes its AGM as a forum to present to and meet with investors.
A range of corporate information (including all Proactis’ announcements) is also available to shareholders, investors
and the public on the Group’s website.
Private shareholders: The AGM is the principal forum for dialogue with private shareholders, and the Board encourages
all shareholders to attend and participate. The Notice of Meeting is sent to shareholders at least 21 days before the
meeting. The chairs of the Board and all committees, together with all other directors whenever possible, attend the
AGM and are available to answer questions raised by shareholders. Shareholders vote on each resolution by way of
a poll. The Board intends to add to normal AGM processes by also giving product demonstrations as part of the
meeting. The Board also holds briefings following the announcement of annual and interim results, which private
shareholders are welcome to attend.
Institutional shareholders: The Board seeks to build a mutual understanding of objectives with institutional
shareholders. The Group CEO and CFO make presentations to institutional shareholders and analysts immediately
following the release of the full-year and half-year results. The Group communicates with institutional investors
frequently through a combination of formal meetings, participation at investor conferences, roadshows and informal
briefings with management. The majority of meetings with shareholders and potential investors are arranged by the
broking team within the Group’s nominated advisor, finnCap Limited. Following meetings, anonymised feedback is
provided to the Board from all fund managers met, from which a greater understanding of sentiment, expectation
and intention can be assessed.
All non-executive directors are available to meet with shareholders upon request.
In addition, the Group reviews analysts’ notes to achieve a wide understanding of investors’ views. This information is
considered by the Board and has contributed to the preparation of the Group’s investor relations strategy.

33

Proactis Annual Report 2020

The QCA Corporate Governance Code
The Board continues to adhere to the Quoted Companies Alliance’s Corporate Governance Code (“QCA Code”) for
small and mid-size quoted companies (revised in April 2018 to meet the new requirements of AIM Rule 26).
The QCA Code is constructed around 10 broad principles and a set of disclosures. The QCA itself has stated what it
considers to be appropriate arrangements for growing companies and asks companies to provide an explanation
about how they are meeting the principles through the prescribed disclosures. The Board has considered how it applies
each principle and the extent to which the Board judges these to be appropriate in the circumstances.

Governance
principles
1. Establish a strategy and

Compliant

Explanation

Further reading

Yes

The Group strategy is decided by the Board
and progress towards delivering objectives is
actively tracked and debated by the Directors

See pages 6 to 17 to find out
more about our strategy
and business model

Yes

Regular meetings are held with investors and
analysts and the Board regularly considers how
decisions could impact, and be received by,
shareholders.

See pages 32 and 33 for
more information on our
relations with shareholders

business model which
promotes long-term value
for shareholders

2. Seek to understand and

meet shareholder needs
and expectations

The AGM provides an opportunity for all
shareholders to hear from and meet with our
Directors.

3. Take into account wider

Yes

The Board has identified the main stakeholders
in the business and regularly discusses how
customers, employees, business partners and
others might be affected by decisions and
developments in the business. We take our
social responsibilities seriously and constantly
strive to enhance our environmental and social
credentials.

See pages 32 and 33 to
learn more about how we
collate feedback from our
stakeholders.

4. Embed effective risk

Yes

The Board, Audit Committee and ELT regularly
review risks, including new threats, and the
processes to mitigate and contain them.

We have summarised the
main risks faced by the
business and how they are
being managed on pages
54 and 55. Further details
about our approach to risk
management and internal
controls are provided in the
Audit Committee report on
pages 38 and 39.

stakeholder and social
responsibilities and their
implications for longterm success

management,
considering both
opportunities and
threats, throughout the
organisation

5. Maintain the Board as a
well-functioning,
balanced team led by
the Chair

Whilst the Board is responsible for risk, our
culture seeks to empower all colleagues to
manage risk effectively.

Yes

Our Board works well together as a team
utilising the levels of experience of strategy,
technology industry, international and financial
matters.
Meetings are characterised by lively debate and
active idea generation and management are
rigorously challenged and held to account.
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on pages 4 and 31.
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Compliant

Explanation

Further reading

Yes

We assess the adequacy of the Board’s
collective skills and experience as part of the
annual Board evaluation. Directors’ individual
development needs are discussed annually with
the Chief Executive Officer or Chairman.

Further information about
how directors keep their
knowledge and skills up to
date are provided on page
32.

Yes

An annual Board evaluation is undertaken to
review the Board’s effectiveness, track
improvements since the previous year and plan
additional actions.

The criteria assessed as
part of the Board
evaluation are summarised
on page 30.

Yes

During the year, the Group created core values
and a set of vision, mission and positioning
principles that will help manage our business
relationships.

Further information on this
area can be found in the
Strategic Report on page
15.

9. Maintain governance

Yes

Our governance structures are underpinned by
the matters which the Board reserves to itself. A
scheme of delegation, including established
committees, an annual agenda plan, regular
business deep-dives and good information
flows all contribute to the Board making wellinformed and properly debated decisions.

More detailed information
about our governance
structures and processes
can be found in our
corporate governance
statement on pages 26 to
35 and the reports of the
Audit Committee and
Remuneration Committee
on pages 40 to 47.

10. Communicate how the

Yes

We communicate with a range of stakeholders
as noted in principle 3.

See pages 32 and 33 to
learn more about how we
collate feedback from our
stakeholders.

6. Ensure that between
them the directors have
the necessary up-todate experience, skills
and capabilities

7. Evaluate Board
performance based on
clear and relevant
objectives, seeking
continuous
improvement

8. Promote a corporate
culture that is based on
ethical values and
behaviours

structures and
processes that are fit
for purpose and
support good
decision-making by
the Board

company is governed
and is performing by
maintaining a dialogue
with shareholders and
other relevant
stakeholders
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TGE Gas Engineering GmbH extends
Proactis Sourcing solution with
Supplier Relationship Management
TGE Gas Engineering GmbH, a worldwide energy company, took the
decision to extend its Source-to-Contract solution provided by Proactis,
meaning the company will now be able to not only improve its sourcing
processes, but also its supplier management.

36
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Audit
Committee
Report

The Audit Committee is responsible for
ensuring that the financial performance
of the Group is properly reported and
reviewed. Its role includes monitoring the
integrity of the financial statements
(including annual and interim accounts
and results announcements), reviewing
internal control and risk management
systems, reviewing any changes to
accounting policies, reviewing and
monitoring the extent of the non-audit
services undertaken by external auditors
and advising on the appointment of
external auditors.

Members of the Audit Committee
The Committee consists of two non-executive directors:
Alan Aubrey (as Chair); and
Rodney Potts.
Richard Hughes, Chief Financial Officer, and other executive directors may attend Committee meetings by invitation.
The Committee met twice in the period. The Board is satisfied that the Chair of the Committee has recent and relevant
financial experience, having previously been Chair of the Audit Committee at the Department of Business, Innovation
and Skills for six years until 2014, he is now Audit Committee Chair of Oxford Nanopore Limited, a large private limited
company with $200m revenue, 500 employees and a valuation of £1.7bn. Alan is also a Fellow of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales which requires annual Continuing Professional Development
confirmation and training. The Chair reports the Committee’s deliberations at the following Board meeting and the
minutes of each meeting are made available to all members of the Board.
As reported in the Strategic Review, the Board remains committed to strong corporate governance and in line with its
earlier commitment to strengthen the independence of its non-executive directors, the Board is already undertaking
a formal search process, with a number of candidates identified. It is the intention of the Board that one of the
independent non-executive directors will be appointed Chair of the Audit Committee once appointed to the Board.

Duties
The main duties of the Audit Committee are set out in its terms of reference, which are available on the Group’s website
or by request from the Company Secretary.
The main items of business considered by the Audit Committee during the year included:
Review of the audit plan and audit engagement letter;
Consideration of key audit matters and how they are addressed;
Review of suitability of the external auditor;
Review of the financial statements and Annual Report;
Consideration of the external audit report and management representation letter;
Going concern review;
Review of the risk management and internal control systems;
Meeting with the external auditor without management present; and
Review of confidential reporting and antibribery arrangements.

38

Company Overview

Strategic Report

Governance

Financial Statements

Role of the external auditor
The Audit Committee monitors the relationship with the external auditor, KPMG LLP, to ensure that auditor
independence and objectivity are maintained.
Noting the tenure of KPMG LLP (since 2006), the Committee intends to proceed to an external tender process for audit
services during the current financial year.
The breakdown of fees between audit and non-audit services is provided in Note 6 of the Group’s financial statements.
The non-audit fees primarily relate to tax advice for the Group.
The Audit Committee also assesses the auditor’s performance and has nothing to report in this regard for the current
financial year.

Audit process
The auditor prepares an audit plan for the review of the full period financial statements. The audit plan sets out the
scope of the audit, areas to be targeted and audit timetable. This plan is reviewed and agreed in advance by the Audit
Committee.
Following the audit, the auditor presented its findings to the Audit Committee for discussion. No major areas of concern
were highlighted by the auditor during the year however, areas of significant risk and other matters of audit relevance
are regularly communicated.

Internal audit
At present the Group does not have an internal audit function and the Committee believes that management is able
to derive assurance as to the adequacy and effectiveness of internal controls and risk management procedures without
one.

Risk management and internal controls
As described on page 30 of the Corporate Governance Report, the Group has established a framework of risk
management and internal control systems, policies and procedures.
The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing the risk management and internal control framework and ensuring
that it operates effectively. During the period, the Committee has reviewed the framework and the Committee is
satisfied that the internal control systems in place are currently operating effectively.

Confidential reporting
The Group has in place a confidential reporting policy set out within the Employee Handbook which sets out the formal
process by which an employee of the Group may, in confidence, speak up about concerns about possible improprieties
in financial reporting or other matters. Confidential reporting is a standing item on the Committee’s agenda. The
Committee is comfortable that the current policy is operating effectively.

Anti-bribery
The Group has in place an anti-bribery and anti-corruption policy which sets out its zero-tolerance position and
provides information and guidance to those working for the Group and its suppliers on how to recognise and deal
with bribery and corruption issues. The Committee is comfortable that the current policy is operating effectively.

Alan Aubrey
Chair of the Audit Committee
28 October 2020
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Directors'
Remuneration
Report
Proactis Holdings plc is
listed on the Alternative
Investment Market
(“AIM”) and, as such, the
following disclosures are
prepared on a voluntary
basis for the Group.
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Remuneration strategy
The remit of the Remuneration Committee is to determine the framework, policy and level of remuneration, and to
make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of executive directors. In addition, the Committee oversees
the creation and implementation of all-employee share plans. The Committee met three times during the year.
In setting remuneration packages, the Committee ensured that individual compensation levels and total Board
compensation were comparable with those of other AIM-listed companies and were consistent with the sector that
Proactis operates in.

Remuneration policy
The Committee, which consists solely of the non-executive directors of the Company, determines the detailed terms
of service of the executive directors, including basic salary, incentives and benefits and the terms upon which their
service may be terminated.
Non-executive directors have no personal financial interest in the Company other than as stated, no potential conflict
of interest arising from cross directorships and no day-to-day involvement in the running of the Company. Details of
shareholdings are given on page 45.
The remuneration policy for executive directors is designed to attract, retain and motivate executives of the highest
calibre to ensure the Group is managed successfully to the benefit of shareholders. The policy is to pay base salary
at median levels with a performance-related bonus each year. Share ownership is encouraged, and all of the executive
directors are interested in the share capital or share options over the share capital of the Company.
In setting remuneration levels, the Committee takes into consideration remuneration within the Group and the
remuneration practices in other companies of a similar size in the markets and locations in which Proactis operates.
Proactis is a dynamic, growing company which operates in a specialised field and positions are benchmarked against
comparable roles in AIM companies. AIM is considered to be the most appropriate market against which to benchmark
executive pay given the business strategy of Proactis.

Executive Directors – Short term incentives
Basic salary

Benefits in kind

Pensions

Basic salary is based on a
number of factors including
market rates together with the
individual director’s experience,
responsibilities and performance.
Individual salaries of directors are
subject to review annually and the
results of that review are effective
from 1 November each year.

The Company provides
benefits in kind comprising a car
allowance, life assurance and
private healthcare insurance.

The Company makes payments
into defined contribution Personal
Pension Plans on behalf of the
executive directors. These
payments were at a rate of 10%
of basic salary.
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Performance-related bonus
The Company operates a Bonus Plan (the “Bonus Plan”) and a Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “LTIP”) under which the
directors and employees of the Group may be granted rights to receive a bonus; a proportion of that bonus being
satisfied through the issue of shares (“Bonus Awards”), or under the LTIP, a right to receive shares (“LTIP Awards”). The
Bonus Plan and the LTIP are administered by the Remuneration Committee.
The Bonus Plan and LTIP have features, as follows:

Bonus Plan
Eligibility

The Bonus Plan and LTIP are open to any employee or director of the Group regardless
of the amount of time such employee or director devotes to the Group.

Material interest

There are no restrictions on a person participating if they have an existing interest in
shares.

Individual
participation limits

There are no individual limits on any one participant in the Bonus Plan or LTIP. No Bonus
Award or LTIP will be granted under the Bonus Plan or LTIP on any date if, as a result, the
total number of shares issued or issuable pursuant to awards or options granted in the
previous ten years under all share option schemes of the Company would exceed 10 per
cent. of the shares in issue at that date.

Award price

A participant under a Bonus Award or an LTIP Award will ordinarily be required to pay a
nominal value per share.

Lapse of awards

A Bonus Award and LTIP lapse if the participant leaves employment or the Bonus Award
or LTIP fail to vest in accordance with the performance targets.

Performance targets

The Remuneration Committee may
impose conditions as to the performance
of the Group which must normally be
satisfied before Bonus Awards can vest. It
is expected that any Bonus Awards to be
granted following Admission will include a
performance target linked to a
combination of share price performance
and adjusted EBITDA.

The Remuneration Committee is able to
impose conditions as to the performance
of the Group which must normally be
satisfied before LTIP Awards can vest. It is
expected that any LTIP Awards to be
granted will include a performance
condition linked to compound growth in
the value of the shares measured over a
period of three years and EPS growth.

Having made Bonus Awards and set a
performance target, the Remuneration
Committee may vary the performance
conditions
provided
that
the
Remuneration Committee reasonably
considers that an event has occurred
which means that it is appropriate to
make the amendment and the altered
performance condition is not materially
less difficult to satisfy.

Having made LTIP Awards and set a
performance target, the Remuneration
Committee may vary the performance
conditions
provided
that
the
Remuneration Committee reasonably
considers that an event has occurred
which means that it is appropriate to
make the amendment and the altered
performance condition is not materially
less difficult to satisfy.

Income tax and
national insurance
contributions
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LTIP

The Bonus Plan and LTIP contain provisions that ensure that any income tax and
employee’s national insurance contributions that arise as a result of any Bonus Award or
LTIP will be payable by the participant.
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Bonus Plan

LTIP

Shares awarded under the Bonus Plan will
rank pari passu with the Company’s
existing issued shares (save that they will
not qualify for any dividends or other
distributions by reference to a recorded
date prior to the vesting of shares
pursuant to a Bonus Award).

Shares awarded under the LTIP will rank
pari passu with the Company’s existing
issued shares (save that they will not
qualify for any dividends or other
distributions by reference to a recorded
date prior to vesting of shares pursuant to
an LTIP Award).

Shares issued pursuant to a Bonus Award
must be held by the participant for a
minimum period of two years.
Takeovers

In the event of a takeover, any unvested Bonus Awards or LTIP Awards shall vest (but only
to the extent determined by the Remuneration Committee) unless:
(i) where the performance period related to the Bonus Awards or LTIP Awards have not
yet expired, the Remuneration Committee exercises its discretion to determine whether
any participant is not a good leaver. Bonus Awards or LTIP Awards held by any such
participant shall lapse as a result of a takeover; or
(ii) the Remuneration Committee agrees with the acquiring company that a Bonus Award
or LTIP Award should be replaced with an equivalent award over shares in the acquiring
company.

Variation of share
capital

In the event of a variation of share capital or a demerger, rights issue or other similar event,
then the number of shares subject to a subsisting Bonus Award or LTIP Award may be
adjusted.

Pension rights

None of the benefits which may be received under the Bonus Plan or LTIP shall be
pensionable.

Awards in respect of
future periods

Bonus Awards have been granted based
on a maximum of 100 per cent. of annual
salary to the Chief Executive Officer.
These Bonus Awards will be satisfied 50
per cent. in cash form and the remaining
50 per cent. in the form of shares. The
Bonus Awards are subject to performance
targets based on share price performance
and adjusted EBITDA.

LTIP Awards have been granted based on
a maximum value of 100 per cent. of
annual salary to the Chief Executive
Officer.
These LTIP Awards are subject to
performance targets linked to share price
performance and measured over a three
year performance period.
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Executive Directors’ service agreements
The Board’s policy on setting notice periods for directors is that these should not exceed one year. All directors have
service agreements for a fixed period of one year terminable on 12 months’ notice.
The details of the service contracts of the executive directors are shown below.
Date of
service contract

Tim Sykes
Sean McDonough
Richard Hughes

10 December 2015
26 May 2006
20 May 2019

Initial term
of contract

None
1 year
None

Notice period
following initial term

1 year
1 year
1 year

Following the year end the Group announced on 30 September that on that day Sean McDonough resigned from the
Board. Sean will remain employed by the Company during his 12-month notice period.

Non-executive Directors
The Board determines the fees paid to non-executive directors, the aggregate limit for which is laid down in the Articles
of Association. The fees, which are reviewed annually, are set in line with prevailing market conditions and at a level
which will attract individuals with the necessary experience and ability to make a significant contribution to the Group’s
affairs.
Non-executive directors are not involved in any discussion or decision about their own remuneration. The same applies
to the Chairman of the Board whose remuneration is determined by the Board on the recommendation of the
Committee.
The non-executive directors do not participate in any of the Company’s pension schemes or bonus arrangements nor
do they have service agreements. Alan Aubrey and Rodney Potts were appointed for an initial term of one year by
letter of appointment dated 26 May 2006. All are entitled to three months’ notice following that initial term. Sophie
Tomkins was appointed for an initial term of one year by a letter dated 29 October 2018 and resigned on 5 October
2020 with immediate effect. The Board agreed to waive her notice period.

External appointments
The Committee recognises that its directors may be invited to become executive or non-executive directors of other
companies or to become involved in charitable or public service organisations. As the Committee believes that this
can broaden the knowledge and experience of the Company’s directors to the benefit of the Group, it is the Company’s
policy to approve such appointments provided there is no conflict of interest and the commitment required is not
excessive. The director concerned can retain the fees relating to any such appointment.
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Total remuneration (audited information)
The remuneration of each of the directors of the Company for the year ended 31 July 2020 is set out below. These
values are included within the audited accounts.

Alan Aubrey
Rodney Potts
Sophie Tomkins
Hampton Wall
Tim Sykes
Sean McDonough
Richard Hughes

Basic
salary
£000

Fees received
by 3rd parties
for services
£000

Performance
related
bonus
£000

Pension
£000

Benefits
in kind
£000

Total
2020
£000

Total
2019
£000

60
40

40
-

-

-

-

60
40
40

60
40
30

250
200
180

-

-

25
20
18

13
14
13

288
234
211

223
288
234
36

730

40

-

63

40

873

911

Sean McDonough resigned from the Board as of 30 September 2020 and Sophie Tomkins resigned from the Board
on 5 October 2020.
During the year no options were exercised (2019: Tim Sykes exercised options for a gain of £77,813).

Details of directors’ interests in share options in the Executive Share Option
Schemes (audited information)
At
31 July
2019 Granted Exercised

Non–executive Directors
Alan Aubrey
Rodney Potts
Executive Directors
Tim Sykes

Richard Hughes

Lapsed

At Exercise
31 July
price
2020
pence

Market
price at
date of Date from
exercise
which Expiry
pence exercisable date

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

635,960
210,000
151,515
451,842
-

-

-

-

635,960
210,000
151,515
451,842
-

36.50
114.50
10.00
43.00
-

-

Note 1
Note 2
Note 3
Note 4

-

-

Note 1 – Each of these options were granted on 14 January 2014 and vested as to one third on the occurrence of each of the following events:
First tranche: the average closing mid-market share price of the Company being 60p;
Second tranche: the average closing mid-market share price of the Company being 75p; and
Third tranche: the average closing mid-market share price of the Company being 90p.
In the case of Tim Sykes, the third tranche had a second condition related to the proportion of his time spent providing services to the Company.
This award remains exercisable even if the vesting conditions are not present at the current date.
Note 2 – Each of these options were granted on 12 February 2016 and vested as to one third on each anniversary of the date of grant of the option for each of the three years following the date of
grant of the option. Each option must be exercised by 12 February 2026.
Note 3 – These options were granted on 25 August 2017 pursuant to the LTIP conditions. Subject to the associated performance criteria being met, the options must be exercised before 7 July 2027.
Note 4 – These options were a replacement issue on 29 August 2017 at the same value and number as the original grant which had lapsed.

The aggregate gain made by current directors on the exercise of share options was £Nil (2019: £77,813) and the
aggregate value of the shares was £Nil (2019: £91,875).
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Internal news

Going the distance challenge
Members of the Proactis Tenders team based
in Aberdeen took part in a challenge for
Friends of Anchor, a cancer and haematology
charity. In-line with Government guidelines,
the goal was to cover the full distance of the
perimeter of the North-East of Scotland - the
areas where the charity provides support and
funding for oncology and haematology
patients. The charity covered 16,843 miles as
part of the challenge and raised over £11,000,
with 639 of these miles being completed by
the Proactis team.
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Performance graph
The following graph shows the Company’s share price compared with the performance of the FTSE AIM all share for
the year to 31 July 2020.

Share price performance - PHD vs FTSE AIM All-Share
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The Committee has selected the above index because it is most relevant for a company of Proactis’ size and sector.
On behalf of the Board

Rodney Potts
Chair of the Remuneration Committee
28 October 2020
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Eidosmedia selects Proactis
to streamline its spend
management process
Eidosmedia has selected Proactis to digitise, automate
and streamline its spend management process across its
organisation, in multiple countries. Proactis’ intuitive and
easy-to-use design will help Eidosmedia increase visibility
of supplier contracts and maximise visibility of corporate
spend across the organisation.
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Customer wins
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Directors’ Report
The Directors present their report and the
audited financial statements for the year
ended 31 July 2020.

Company activity and review

Dividend policy

The principal activity of the Group is the development
and sale of business software and associated services.

No final dividend is proposed (2019: Nil per ordinary
share).

A review of the Group’s operations and future
prospects is covered in the Strategic Report and the
Financial Review. Specifically, this includes sections on
strategy and markets and the Financial Review
considers key risks and key performance indicators.

Directors

Financial results
Details of the Group’s financial results and position are
set out in the Consolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income, other primary statements and
in the Notes to the Financial Statements on pages 69
to 114.
The directors have reviewed the results for the years
ended 31 July 2020 and 31 July 2019, including the
annual report and accounts, preliminary results
statement and the report from the external auditor. In
reviewing the statements and determining whether
they were fair, balanced and understandable, the
directors considered the work and recommendations
of management as well as the report from the external
auditor.

Enhanced business review
The Companies Act 2006 requires that the directors
present an enhanced business review.
These
enhancements are provided within the Strategic
Report and the Financial Review.
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The directors who served on the Board and Board
Committees as at the date of this report are set out on
page 4.
Under the Articles of Association of the Company, one
third of the directors are subject to retirement by
rotation or, if their number is not three or a multiple of
three, the number nearest to but not less than one
third, shall retire. Each retiring director is eligible for reelection. Each director must retire at the third Annual
General Meeting following their last appointment or
re-appointment. The directors retiring by rotation at
the forthcoming Annual General Meeting are Richard
Hughes and Rodney Potts. Both of these directors,
being eligible, offers themselves for re-appointment.
In relation to the re-appointment of each of Richard
Hughes and Rodney Potts, the Board is satisfied that
each of these directors continues to be effective and
to demonstrate commitment to the Company.
The Board will propose a resolution at the next AGM
to amend the Articles of Association so that all
directors are required to offer themselves for reelection annually.
Information on directors’ remuneration and share
option rights is given in the Directors’ Remuneration
Report on pages 40 to 47.

Company Overview

Strategic Report

Governance

Financial Statements

Directors’ duties
The directors of the Company, as those of all UK
companies, must act in accordance with a set of
general rules. These duties are detailed in section 172
of the Companies Act 2006 which is summarised as
follows:
‘A director of a company must act in the way they
consider, in good faith, would be most likely to promote
the success of the company for the benefit of its
stakeholders as a whole and, in doing so have regard
(amongst other matters) to:
The likely consequences of any decisions in the long
term;

Our people
The Group is committed to being a responsible
business. Our behaviour is aligned with the
expectation of our people, clients, investors,
communities and society as a whole. People are at the
heart of our business and for our business to succeed
we need to manage our people’s performance and
develop and bring through talent while ensuring we
operate as efficiently as possible.
Further details on our values can be found on page 15.
Business relationships

The need to foster the Company’s business
relationships with suppliers, customers and others;

Our strategy prioritises our relationships with existing
customers as well as bringing new customers into the
Group. In order to be successful in our strategy we
need to develop and maintain strong customer and
supplier relationships.

The impact of the Company’s operations in the
community and environment;

For further information in this area please refer to page
32.

The interests of the Company’s employees;

The desirability of the Company maintaining a
reputation for high standards of business conduct;
and
The need to act fairly as between shareholders of
the Company.
As part of their induction, a director is briefed on their
duties and they can access professional advice on
these, either from the Company Secretary or, if they
judge it necessary, from an independent advisor. It is
important to recognise that in our Group the directors
fulfil their duties partly through a governance
framework that delegates day-to-day decision
making to employees of the Group.
The following paragraphs summarise how the
directors fulfil their duties:

Community and environment
We want to leverage our expertise and enable our
people to support communities around us.
For further information on our values please refer to
page 15.
Shareholders
The Board is committed to openly engaging with our
shareholders, as we recognise the importance of
effective dialogue, whether with major institutional
investors or private shareholders.
Further details on how we engage with shareholders
can be found on pages 32 and 33.

Risk Management
As we grow, our business and our risk environment also
become more complex. It is therefore vital that we
effectively identify, evaluate, manage and mitigate the
risks we face, and that we continue to evolve our
approach to risk management.
Details of our principal risks and uncertainties are
considered further in the Directors’ Report, and how we
manage our risk environment are included on pages
54 and 55.
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Substantial shareholders
At 11 October 2020, shareholders with a beneficial holding of more than 3% of the Company’s issued share capital
were as follows:

Lombard Odier Asset Management (Europe)
DBAY Advisors
Rodney Potts
Gresham House
GAM Holding AG

Number
of shares

% of issued
share capital

27,627,217
13,907,721
8,995,427
6,104,954
5,129,596

28.9
14.6
9.4
6.4
5.4

Directors’ shareholders
The beneficial interests of the directors in the issued share capital of the Company at 31 July 2020 was as follows:

Non-executive Directors
Alan Aubrey
Rodney Potts
Executive Directors
Tim Sykes
Richard Hughes

Number
of shares

% of issued
share capital

1,362,926
8,995,427

1.4
9.4

382,736
15,000

0.4
0.0

At 28 October 2020, the respective holdings of the directors had not changed from those at 31 July 2020.
None of the directors had any interest in the share capital of any subsidiary company. Further details of options held
by the directors are set out in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 40 to 47.
The middle market price of the Company’s ordinary shares on 31 July 2020 was 36.0p and the range from 1 August
2019 to 31 July 2020 was 14.0p to 61.6p with an average price of 41.8p.

Research and development
The Group capitalised £8.5m during the year (2019: £7.6m) on development of software products and on software for
own use.

Donations
The charitable donations in the year were £4,748 (2019: £417). There were no political donations.

Employee involvement
It is the Group’s policy to involve employees in its progress, development and performance. Applications for
employment by disabled persons are fully considered, bearing in mind the respective aptitudes and abilities of the
applicants concerned. The Group is a committed equal opportunities employer and has engaged employees with
broad backgrounds and skills. It is the policy of the Group that the training, career development and promotion of a
disabled person should, as far as possible, be identical to that of a person who is fortunate enough not to suffer from
a disability. In the event of members of staff becoming disabled, every effort is made to ensure that their employment
with the Group continues.
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Financial instruments
An indication of the financial risk management objectives and policies and the exposure of the group to price risk,
credit risk, liquidity risk and cash flow risk is provided in Note 24 to the financial statements.

Qualifying third party indemnity
The Group has provided an indemnity for the benefit of its current directors which is a qualifying third-party indemnity
provision for the purpose of the Companies Act 2006.

Supplier payment policy and practice
The Group does not operate a standard code in respect of payments to suppliers. The Group agrees terms of payment
with suppliers at the start of business and then makes payments in accordance with contractual and other legal
obligations.

Greenhouse gas emissions
In line with the Group’s Our planet value, the Group is considering how disclosures in respect of greenhouse gas
emissions, energy consumption and energy efficiency action can be developed for future annual reports.
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Key risks
Although the directors seek to minimise the impact of risk factors, the Group is subject to a number of risks which are
as follows:

Risk

Potential impact

Mitigation

COVID-19

The Group is exposed to the COVID-19
global pandemic and the associated
impacts on the macro-economic
environment through the following:

The Board and ELT monitor this area
regularly through its normal commercial
and finance monitoring controls.

Delays in pipeline conversion;
Project implementation deferrals;

Appropriate actions are taken on a case
by case basis with customers impacted by
the global pandemic.

Lower transactions in volume-based
contracts; and
Customer solvency
Loss of key personnel

Loss of key management could have
adverse consequences for the Group.
While the Group has entered into service
agreements / employment contracts with
each of its key management, the retention
of their services or those of other key
personnel cannot be guaranteed.

Competition

Competitors may be able to develop
products and services that are more
attractive to customers than the Group’s
products and services.
In order to be successful in the future, the
Group will need to continue to finance
research and development activities and
continue to respond promptly and
effectively to the challenges of
technological change in the software
industry and competitors’ innovations.
An inability to devote sufficient resources
to product development activities in order
to achieve this may lead to a material
adverse effect on the Group’s business.

Acquisitions

The Group has historically been
acquisitive and has stated that it will
consider acquiring suitable companies
which fit certain criteria.
The Group recognises that there is a risk of
operational disturbance in the course of
integrating acquired companies into the
Group’s existing operations.
Acquisitions may also be made where the
desired synergy benefits may fail to
materialise, may take longer than
anticipated or may be lower than have
been or where the targets results or cash
flows may not match the Group‘s
expectations.
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Retention risk is considered and discussed
at length at Board and ELT meetings.
Appropriate actions are agreed if a
particular risk is raised.

The
Group
continues to
invest
substantially in the development of its
technology and other solutions to enable
it to meet the challenge of fast changing
market demand and ever-increasing levels
of technological advancement.
The Group has an extensive product
portfolio arising from the Group’s
acquisition history. The Board recognises
this and has projects underway to better
leverage those products that deliver in line
with the Group’s strategic plan.

The Group mitigates this risk by way of
due diligence, a detailed planning process
and continued monitoring of the
progression of integration of acquisition
into the wider Group.
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Risk

Potential impact

Mitigation

Internal operations

The Group is subject to the risks and
challenges in managing an organisation
operating in various countries.

Monthly meetings are held with regional
management teams to discuss progress
against the Group’s strategy.

If the Board and ELT are unable to
manage the international aspects of the
Group’s business and ensure that global
processes are sufficiently well developed
and robust, its operating results and
overall business will be significantly and
adversely affected.

Matters arising from these meetings are
discussed at Board and ELT meetings and
appropriate actions agreed, if required.

The Group’s operations are subject to a
number of laws relating to privacy and
data protection. Such laws and
regulations govern the Group’s ability to
collect and use personal information.

All critical suppliers to the business are first
evaluated by the Group’s Compliance
Team.

Privacy or data
protection failures

The Group relies on third party contractors
and its own employees to collect personal
data and to maintain its databases and
therefore the Group is exposed to the risk
that such data could be wrongfully
appropriated, lost or disclosed, damaged
or processed in breach of data protection
requirements.

Government policy

Depending on the nature and scope of the
services various processes will then be
enacted commensurate with their
perceived risk to the business.
Each of these suppliers will need to
undergo a full Data Protection Impact
Assessment and only on successful
conclusion of that exercise, can the service
then be utilised.

If the Group is found not to comply with
the data protection laws and regulations,
this may result in investigative or
enforcement action (including criminal
proceedings and significant pecuniary
penalties)
by
the
Information
Commissioner’s Office in the UK or similar
regulatory authorities in other jurisdictions
in which the Group operates. This in turn
could damage its reputation, lead to
negative publicity and result in the loss of
the goodwill of its existing customers and
deter new customers, all of which would
have a material adverse effect on the
Group’s business, results of operations and
financial condition.

Proactis is GDPR Compliant and all
employees are required to undertake
annualised Security and GDPR re-training.

There may be changes in future
government policy in relation to
eProcurement which may have a material
adverse effect on the Group’s business,
such as Brexit, eGov, gCloud and
legislation conflicts between the various
jurisdictions that the Group will operate in
following completion.

The Board and ELT monitor this area
regularly.

All employees are also required to
annually, review all corporate policies and
sign confirmation and acceptance.
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Disclosure of information to auditor
The directors who held office at the date of approval of this Directors’ Report confirm that, so far as they are aware,
there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditor is unaware; and each director has taken all the
steps that he or she ought to have taken to make himself or herself aware of any relevant audit information and to
establish that the Company’s auditor is aware of that information.

Re-appointment of auditors
Noting the tenure of KPMG LLP (since 2006), the Committee intends to proceed to an external tender process for audit
services during the current financial year.
A resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG LLP as auditors and the fixing of their remuneration will be put to the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting to be held on 14 December 2020 in order to manage the tendering process to
completion.

By order of the Board

Richard Hughes
Company Secretary
28 October 2020
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Statement
of Directors’
responsibilities
in respect of the Annual Report, Strategic Report,
the Directors' Report and the Financial Statements
The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the Group and parent Company financial statements
in accordance with applicable law and regulations.
Company law requires the directors to prepare Group and parent Company financial statements for each financial
year. Under the AIM Rules of the London Stock Exchange they are required to prepare the Group financial statements
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU ("IFRSs" as adopted by the EU)
and applicable law and they have elected to prepare the parent Company financial statements in accordance with
UK accounting standards and applicable law (UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), including FRS 101 Reduced
Disclosure Framework.
Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and parent Company and of their profit or loss for that period.
In preparing each of the Group and parent Company financial statements, the directors are required to:
select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
make judgements and estimates that are reasonable, relevant, reliable and prudent;
for the Group financial statements, state whether they have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted
by the EU;
for the parent Company financial statements, state whether applicable UK accounting standards have been
followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;
assess the Group and parent Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern; and
use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the Group or the parent Company
or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
parent Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the parent
Company and enable them to ensure that its financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are
responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and have general responsibility for taking
such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud and
other irregularities.
Under applicable law and regulations, the directors are also responsible for preparing a Strategic Report and a
Directors’ Report that complies with that law and those regulations.
The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included
on the company’s website. Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements
may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
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Lids Inc. partners
with Proactis
to improve its
Sourcing processes
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After evaluating Proactis’ Managed
Sourcing Service through a proof of
concept pilot program, Lids found
that the managed services approach
would maximise the efforts of its
internal team, promote best practices
and provide access to new suppliers.

Customer wins US

After test events and discussions
with Proactis, we are confident
that its Sourcing Services will
give us access to knowledge
and best-in-class tools to expand
and optimise our sourcing efforts
and enable us to find and secure
new opportunities to deliver
greater value.
Chairman of Fanzz
Lids Holdings
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Independent
Auditor’s Report
to the members of Proactis Holdings plc

1 Our opinion is unmodified
We have audited the financial statements of Proactis Holdings plc for the year ended 31 July 2020 which comprise
the Consolidated Income Statement, Consolidated Statement of Other Comprehensive Income, Consolidated Balance
Sheet, Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity, Consolidated Cash Flow Statement, Company Balance Sheet,
Company Statement of Changes in Equity, Company Cash Flow Ssatement and the related notes, including the
Accounting Policies in notes 1 and 32.
In our opinion:
the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the parent Company’s affairs
as at 31 July 2020 and of the Group’s loss for the year then ended;
the Group’s financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards as adopted by the European Union ("IFRSs" as adopted by the EU);
the parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK accounting
standards, including FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework; and
the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.
Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”) and applicable law.
Our responsibilities are described below. We have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities under, and are independent of
the Group in accordance with, UK ethical requirements including the FRC Ethical Standard as applied to listed entities.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is a sufficient and appropriate basis for our opinion.
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2 Key audit matters: our assessment of risks of material misstatement
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in the audit of the
financial statements and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to
fraud) identified by us, including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the allocation of
resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters were addressed in the context
of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters. In arriving at our audit opinion above, the key audit matters, in decreasing order
of audit significance, were as follows:

Going concern

Disclosure quality

Our procedures included:

Recurring risk

The financial statements explain how the
Board has formed a judgement that it is
appropriate to adopt the going concern
basis of preparation for the Group and
parent Company.

Funding assessment - We obtained and
challenged the accuracy of management’s
bank loan covenant forecast calculations,
comparing the basis of the covenant
calculations to original bank loan
agreements.

Refer to page 54
(principal risks), page
38 (Audit Committee
Report), page 76
(accounting policy).

That judgement is based on an evaluation
of the inherent risks to the Group’s and
Company’s business model and how
those risks might affect the Group’s and
Company’s financial resources or ability to
continue operations over a period of at
least a year from the date of approval of
the financial statements.
The risk most likely to adversely affect the
Group’s and Company’s available
financial resources over this period was:
Forecasting risk, and the resulting impact
on the Group’s and Company’s ability to
meet bank loan covenants.
There are also less predictable but realistic
second order impacts, such as the erosion
of customer confidence, which could result
in a rapid reduction of available financial
resources.
The risk for our audit was whether or not
those risks were such that they amounted
to a material uncertainty that may have
cast significant doubt about the ability to
continue as a going concern. Had they
been such, then that fact would have been
required to have been disclosed.

Sensitivity analysis - We considered
sensitivities over the level of headroom on
bank loan covenants, and the level of
available financial resources indicated by
the Group’s financial forecasts taking
account of reasonably possible (but not
unrealistic) adverse effects that could arise
from these sensitivities individually and
collectively. We stress tested forecast
performance for reductions in revenue as
a result of not securing new contracts, and
considered management’s ability to
implement cost reduction programmes
and other mitigating actions.
Historical comparisons: We analysed the
Group’s previous forecasts against actual
outcomes to assess the historical reliability
of forecasting.
Benchmarking
assumptions:
We
challenged the appropriateness of key
assumptions in the cash flow projections,
applying our experience based on our
historical knowledge of the Group. We
compared actual performance for the
year ended 31 July 2020 against forecasts
for the going concern period and
challenged the directors’ assumptions
underlying these forecasts.
Assessing transparency: Assessing the
completeness and accuracy of the matters
covered in the going concern disclosure by
comparing the going concern disclosure to
the results of our above procedures.
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Impairment of
carrying value of
goodwill and other
intangible assets
(Group) and parent
Company’s
investments in and
intercompany
receivables from
subsidiaries.
Recurring risk

£14.8m (2019: £27.0m)
of impairment of
goodwill.

£16.9m (2019: £47.6m)
of impairment of
investments in
subsidiaries (parent
Company only)

Refer to page 79
(accounting policy)
and pages 95 and 119
(financial disclosures).

Forecast-based valuation

Our procedures included:

Over the past year, certain areas of the
Group have underperformed, with actual
performance lower than previously
forecast, particularly in the ‘US’, ‘Germany’
and ’France’ CGUs.

Historical comparisons: We analysed the
Group’s previous forecasts against actual
outcomes to assess the historical reliability
of forecasting.

As a result, the directors have recorded an
impairment charge against goodwill in the
Group accounts of £14.8m, in relation to
the US, Germany and France CGUs. The
investment in Proactis Overseas Limited
and Proactis Tenders Limited on the parent
company balance sheet has been
impaired by £15.1m and £1.8m respectively.
The estimated recoverable amount and
the resulting impairment charge are
subjective due to the inherent uncertainty
involved in forecasting and discounting
future cash flows. As part of our audit
work, we determined that the impairment
charge has a high degree of estimation
uncertainty, with a potential range of
reasonable outcomes greater than our
materiality for the financial statements as
a whole, and possibly many times that
amount.

Our sector experience: evaluating
whether assumptions used, in particular
those relating to forecast revenues, staff
costs and long-term growth rate, reflect
our knowledge of the business and
industry, including known or probable
changes in the business environment.
Sensitivity analysis: performing sensitivity
analysis on the key assumptions, including
discount rates, in order to understand the
extent to which a change in the key
assumptions impact headroom or
impairment charges.
Benchmarking assumptions: challenging,
using our own valuation specialist, the key
inputs used in the Group’s calculation of
the discount and long-term growth rates
by comparing them to externally derived
data, including available sources for
comparable companies.
Comparing valuations: We compared the
sum of the discounted cash flows for all
CGUs to the Group’s market capitalisation
to assess the reasonableness of those
cash flows.
Assessing
transparency:
assessing
whether the Group’s disclosures about the
sensitivity of the outcome of the
impairment assessment to changes in key
assumptions reflected the risks inherent in
the valuation of goodwill and intangible
assets.

The prior year key audit matter relating to valuation of intangibles is no longer relevant in the current year as this related
to the acquired intangibles recognised on the eSize acquisition.
We continue to perform procedures to assess the impact of uncertainties due to the UK exiting the European Union on
our audit. We no longer consider Brexit to have a significant impact on the impairment key audit matter and have
therefore not assessed this as one of the most significant risks in our current year audit and, therefore, it is not separately
identified in our report this year.
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3 Our application of materiality and an overview of the scope of our audit
Materiality for the Group financial statements as a whole was set at £350,000 (2019: £270,000), determined with
reference to a benchmark of Group revenue (2019: Group revenue), of which it represents 0.7% (2019: 0.5%). Group
revenue was determined to be the most suitable benchmark as it provides a more stable measure year on year than
group profit before tax.
Materiality for the parent Company financial statements as a whole was set at £250,000 (2019: £94,500), determined
with reference to a benchmark of Company total assets, of which it represents 0.3% (2019: 0.1%).
We agreed to report to the Audit Committee any corrected or uncorrected identified misstatements exceeding £17,000
(2019: £13,500), in addition to other identified misstatements that warranted reporting on qualitative grounds.
Of the Group’s 33 (2019: 45) reporting components, we subjected 11 (2019: 22) to full scope audits for Group purposes.
These audits covered 92% (2019: 88%) of total Group revenue, 91% (2019: 90%) of the total profits and losses that
made up Group profit before tax, and 84% (2019: 88%) of total Group assets.
The remaining 8% of total Group revenue, 9% of the total profits and losses that made up Group profit before tax and
2% of total group assets is represented by 22 reporting components. For these residual components, we performed
analysis at an aggregated Group level to re-examine our assessment that there were no significant risks of material
misstatement within these.
The Group team instructed component auditors as to the significant areas to be covered, including the relevant risks
detailed above and the information to be reported back. The Group team approved the component materialities,
which ranged from £20,000 to £250,000 (2019: £1,000 to £200,000), having regard to the mix of size and risk profile
of the Group across the components. The work on two of the 11 components (2019: two of the 22 components) was
performed by component auditors and the rest, including the audit of the parent company, was performed by the
Group team.
On account of travel restrictions in place during the performance of the audit the Group team did not visit the
component auditors and instead held virtual conference meetings with the two (2019: two) components, which were
based in one location (2019: one location). These meetings took place at the planning, execution and finalisation
stages of the audit. At these meetings the findings reported to the Group team were discussed in more detail, and any
further work required by the Group team was then performed by the component auditor.

4 We have nothing to report on going concern
The directors have prepared the financial statements on the going concern basis as they do not intend to liquidate
the Company or the Group or to cease their operations, and as they have concluded that the Company’s and the
Group’s financial position means that this is realistic. They have also concluded that there are no material uncertainties
that could have cast significant doubt over their ability to continue as a going concern for at least a year from the
date of approval of the financial statements (“the going concern period”).
Our responsibility is to conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ conclusions and, had there been a material
uncertainty related to going concern, to make reference to that in this audit report. However, as we cannot predict all
future events or conditions and as subsequent events may result in outcomes that are inconsistent with judgements
that were reasonable at the time they were made, the absence of reference to a material uncertainty in this auditor's
report is not a guarantee that the Group or the Company will continue in operation.
We identified going concern as a key audit matter (see section 2 of this report). Based on the work described in our
response to that key audit matter, we are required to report to you if:
we have anything material to add or draw attention to in relation to the Directors’ Statement in Note 1 to the
financial statements on the use of the going concern basis of accounting with no material uncertainties that may
cast significant doubt over the Group and Company’s use of that basis for a period of at least 12 months from the
date of approval of the financial statements.
We have nothing to report in these respects.
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5 We have nothing to report on the other information in the Annual Report
The directors are responsible for the other information presented in the Annual Report together with the financial
statements. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do
not express an audit opinion or, except as explicitly stated below, any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether, based on our financial statements
audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or inconsistent with the financial statements or our audit
knowledge. Based solely on that work we have not identified material misstatements in the other information.
Strategic Report and Directors’ Report
Based solely on our work on the other information:
we have not identified material misstatements in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report;
in our opinion the information given in those reports for the financial year is consistent with the financial statements;
and
in our opinion those reports have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006.

6 We have nothing to report on the other matters on which we are required to
report by exception
Under the Companies Act 2006, we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:
adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent Company, or returns adequate for our audit have
not been received from branches not visited by us;
the parent Company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns;
certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; and
we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.
We have nothing to report in these respects.

7 Respective responsibilities
Directors’ responsibilities
As explained more fully in their statement set out on page 57, the directors are responsible for: the preparation of the
financial statements including being satisfied that they give a true and fair view; such internal control as they determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error; assessing the Group and parent Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern; and using the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend
to liquidate the Group or the parent Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
Auditor’s responsibilities
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue our opinion in an auditor’s report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK)
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.
A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the FRC’s website at www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.
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8 The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities
This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those
matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted
by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members,
as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

John Edwards
(Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants
15 Canada Square
London
E14 5GL
28 October 2020
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APHP to streamline
its Purchase-to-Pay
processes with Proactis
APHP (Assistance Publique – Hôpitaux
de Paris) has selected Proactis to
digitise its ordering process, including
the set-up of a supplier network and
catalogue management solution.
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Customer wins Europe
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Internal news

Milestone reached
In the Netherlands, Proactis
reached the milestone of over
1,300 eInvoicing suppliers using
the Proactis Portal to submit
their invoices for processing.
More than 64,000 eInvoices
have been processed through
the Portal since its launch, with
one customer responsible for
13,000 of these alone. The aim
now is to work towards the next
milestone of 2,000 suppliers
using the Portal.
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Consolidated Income
Statement
For the year ended 31 July 2020

Revenue

Notes

2020
£000

2019
£000

3

49,571

54,140

(5,339)

(6,659)

(24,118)

(22,892)

(11,361)

(11,231)

Cost of sales
Staff costs

4

Other operating expenses
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

11

(1,642)

(608)

Amortisation of intangible assets

12

(10,664)

(10,136)

Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets

12

(14,813)

(26,999)

Operating loss

6

(18,366)

(24,385)

Finance income

7

-

5

Finance expenses

8

(974)

(1,440)

(19,340)

(25,820)

(20)

(703)

(19,360)

(26,523)

Owners of the Company

(19,017)

(26,462)

Non-controlling interests

(343)

(61)

(19,360)

(26,523)

Loss before taxation
Income tax charge

9

Loss for the year

Loss attributable to:

Loss per ordinary share:
- Basic

10

(19.9)p

(27.9)p

- Diluted

10

(19.9)p

(27.9)p

The following notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

70

Company Overview

Strategic Report

Governance

Financial Statements

Consolidated Statement of
Other Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 July 2020
2020
£000

2019
£000

(19,360)

(26,523)

Foreign operations – foreign currency translation differences

332

(192)

Other comprehensive gain/(loss) net of tax

332

(192)

Owners of the Company

121

(249)

Non-controlling interests

211

57

332

(192)

Owners of the Company

(18,896)

(26,711)

Non-controlling interests

(132)

(4)

(19,028)

(26,715)

Notes

Loss for the period
Other comprehensive income
Items that are or may be reclassified to profit or loss

Other comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to:

Total comprehensive loss attributable to:

The following notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Balance
Sheet
As at 31 July 2020
Notes

2020
£000

2019
£000

Property, plant & equipment

11

5,439

1,625

Intangible assets

12

118,754

136,082

Deferred tax asset

17

746

755

124,939

138,462

Non-current assets

Current assets
Trade and other receivables

13

13,239

23,048

Cash and cash equivalents

14

4,424

7,732

17,663

30,780

10,273

-

152,875

169,242

Assets held for sale

22

Total assets
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

15

9,136

21,616

Obligations under finance leases

20

-

30

Lease liabilities

20

1,008

-

Contract liabilities

16

18,242

17,306

90

-

1,356

3,181

29,832

42,133

10,429

-

40,261

42,133

Income taxes
Loans and borrowings

Liabilities directly associated with the assets held for sale

20

22

Non-current liabilities
Contract liabilities

16

184

192

Deferred tax liabilities

17

8,810

9,153

Loans and borrowings

20

48,153

46,577

Obligations under finance leases

20

-

27

Lease liabilities

20

3,164

-

Provisions

23

492

656

60,803

56,605

101,064

98,738

51,811

70,504

Total liabilities
Net assets
.
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Consolidated Balance
Sheet
As at 31 July 2020
Notes

2020
£000

2019
£000

Called up share capital

18

9,553

9,522

Share premium account

19

-

83,513

Merger reserve

19

556

556

Capital reserve

19

449

449

Equity reserve

19

-

89

Foreign exchange reserve

19

(1,265)

(1,386)

Retained earnings

41,050

(23,839)

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company

50,343

68,904

1,468

1,600

51,811

70,504

Equity

Non-controlling interest

30

Total equity

The following notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

The financial statements on pages 70 to 114 were approved by the Board of Directors on 28 October 2020 and signed on
its behalf by:

Tim Sykes
Chief Executive Officer

Richard Hughes
Chief Financial Officer
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Consolidated Statement of
Changes in Equity
As at 31 July 2020

Total
equity
£000

Share
premium
£000

Merger
reserve
£000

Capital
reserve
£000

9,324

81,464

556

449

(1,137)

80

2,875

93,611

1,604

95,215

-

-

-

-

-

-

606

606

-

606

9,324

81,464

556

449

(1,137)

80

3,481

94,217

1,604 95,821

Result for the period

-

-

-

-

-

-

(26,462) (26,462)

(61) (26,523)

Other comprehensive income

-

-

-

-

(249)

-

IFRS 15 transition impact

At 1 August 2018

Total comprehensive income for the period

Retained
earnings
£000

Noncontrolling
Total
interest
£000
£000

Share
capital
£000

At 31 July 2018

-

(249)

(192)

-

-

-

-

(249)

-

1,267

-

-

-

-

-

1,396

-

1,396

10

18

-

-

-

-

-

28

-

28

-

-

-

-

-

29

-

29

-

29

59

764

-

-

-

(20)

20

823

-

823

Dividend payment of 1.5p per share

-

-

-

-

-

-

(1,419)

(1,419)

-

(1,419)

Share based payment charges

-

-

-

-

-

-

541

541

-

541

9,522

83,513

556

449

(1,386)

89

Share options exercised
Issue of convertible notes
Convertible loan note conversion

At 31 July 2019

(26,462) (26,711)

57

129

Shares issued during the period

(23,839) 68,904

(4) (26,715)

1,600 70,504

Result for the period

-

-

-

-

-

-

(19,017)

(19,017)

Other comprehensive income

-

-

-

-

121

-

-

121

Total comprehensive income for the period

-

-

-

-

121

-

31

146

-

-

-

-

-

177

-

177

Issue of ordinary shares related to
business combinations

(19,017) (18,896)

(343) (19,360)
211

332

(132) (19,028)

Share premium reduction

-

(83,659)

-

-

-

-

83,659

-

-

-

Release of equity component of
convertible notes

-

-

-

-

-

(89)

-

(89)

-

(89)

Share based payment charges

-

-

-

-

-

-

247

247

-

247

9,553

-

556

449

(1,265)

-

41,050

50,343

1,468

51,811

At 31 July 2020

Details of the nature of each component of equity are given in Note 19.
The following notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
For the year ended 31 July 2020
Notes

2020
£000

2019
£000

(19,360)

(26,523)

Operating activities
Loss for the year
Amortisation of intangible assets

12

10,664

10,136

Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets

12

14,813

26,999

Depreciation

11

1,642

608

7&8

974

1,435

Income tax charge

9

20

703

Share based payment charges

5

247

541

9,000

13,899

Net finance expense

Operating cash flow before changes in working capital

396

489

44

(204)

9,440

14,184

Finance expense

(1,409)

(1,269)

Income tax paid

(77)

(995)

7,954

11,920

(530)

(586)

-

(8,365)

(8,525)

(7,649)

(9,055)

(16,600)

-

(1,419)

Movement in trade and other receivables
Movement in trade and other payables and contract liabilities
Operating cash flow from operations

Net cash flow from operating activities
Investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment

11&12

Payments to acquire subsidiary undertakings, net of cash acquired
Development expenditure capitalised

12

Net cash flow from investing activities
Financing activities
Payment of dividend

-

28

Receipts from loans and borrowings

20

1,586

10,178

Repayment of borrowings

20

(2,557)

(5,286)

Payment of lease liabilities (2019: Finance lease payments)

20

(976)

(60)

(1,947)

3,441

859

(590)

(3,048)

(1,239)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

7,732

9,561

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

5,543

7,732

Proceeds from issue of shares

Net cash flow from financing activities
Effect of exchange rate movements on cash and cash equivalents
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year – from continuing operations

14

4,424

7,732

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year – assets held for sale

22

1,119

-
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1. Accounting policies
Significant accounting policies
Proactis Holdings plc (the “Company”) is a public company incorporated and domiciled in the United Kingdom, with subsidiary
undertakings in the United States, France, Germany, Netherlands, Ireland, Belgium, New Zealand, Mauritius, and Australia. The
address of its registered office is Riverview Court, Castle Gate, Wetherby, LS22 6LE.
The Group financial statements consolidate those of the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”). The
Company financial statements present information about the Company as a separate entity and not about its Group.
The Group is principally engaged in the development and sale of business software and associated services.
The following paragraphs summarise the significant accounting policies of the Group, which have been applied consistently in
dealing with items which are considered material in relation to the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
Basis of preparation
The Group consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs”) as adopted by the European Union, IFRIC interpretations and the Companies Act 2006 as applicable to
companies reporting under IFRS. The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention.
The Company has elected to prepare its Company financial statements in accordance with FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure
Framework (“FRS 101”).
The financial statements are presented in pounds sterling, which is the functional currency of the parent Company and the
presentational currency of the Group, and in round thousands.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.
Judgements made by management in the application of IFRSs that have a significant effect on the Group financial statements
and estimates with a significant risk of material adjustment in the next year are discussed in Note 27.
Going concern
The financial statements have been approved on the assumption that the Group remains a going concern. The following
paragraphs summarise the issues and basis on which the directors have reached their conclusion.
The Group’s business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development, performance and positions are
set out in the Strategic Report on page 6. Notwithstanding net current liabilities at 31 July 2020 of £12.2m (31 July 2019: net
current liabilities of £11.4m), the directors have prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis. Net current liabilities
at 31 July 2020 include £18.2m (2019: £17.3m) of contract liabilities, which does not represent expected cash outflows. Excluding
this, the Group has net current assets of £6.0m (2019: £5.9m).
On 28 April 2020, the Group reset its bank facilities with HSBC. This reset includes the rescheduling of the amortisation profile in
the short-term, revised covenants providing material headroom to the current business plan and a conditional option to extend
the term of the current facility from 31 July 2022 to 31 July 2023. The bank facilities with HSBC consist of £50m debt facility
including a £15m term loan, with a coupon rate of 1.95% over LIBOR, and a £35m revolving credit facility, with a ratcheted
coupon rate of at least 1.75% over LIBOR and no higher than 3.5% over LIBOR.
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Net bank debt at 31 July 2020 was £37.1m (2019: £36.5m), comprising cash balances of £5.5m and gross bank debt of £42.6m.
The financial covenants of this facility include forecast liquidity, net leverage and interest cover. The Group has prepared a sensitised
cash flow model up to and including the period ending 31 July 2023, which shows increasing cash flows into the future as the
business grows. The Group’s forecasts and projections are completed on a prudent basis and consider the effect of reasonably
possible changes in trading performance. These show that the Group should be able to operate within the level of its current
facilities and banking covenants.
The directors have prepared Group forecasts covering the period to 31 July 2023, taking into account the possible impact of COVID19 on trading performance and have assessed the ability of the Group to meet its liabilities as they fall due in the 18 month period
from the date of the approval of these financial statements. These forecasts reflect the directors’ plausible assumptions about the
duration and extent of the impact of COVID-19 on trading performance, including a number of assumptions in relation to recurring
revenue, new business wins and discretionary spend category cost savings. In this scenario, the Group is expected to maintain
sufficient liquidity and remain in compliance with covenants throughout the forecast period.
Whilst the Group’s cash flow forecasts have been prepared using current trading assumptions, the operating environment presents
a number of challenges which could negatively impact the actual performance achieved. These risks include, but are not limited
to, achieving forecast recurring revenue and new business wins and also the directors’ ability to implement cost saving initiatives in
areas of discretionary spend where required. If future trading performance significantly underperforms the Group’s forecasts, this
could impact the ability of the Group to comply with its covenant tests over the period of the forecasts.
Due to the uncertainty over the duration and extent of the impact of COVID-19, the directors have modelled a severe but plausible
downside scenario when preparing the forecasts. The scenario considered includes both a reduction and delay in new business
wins and the removal of revenue related to new products. Assumptions have been made around the scale and duration of any
COVID-19 related disruption. Mitigating actions within the control of management, including reductions in areas of discretionary
spend, have been modelled. It is difficult to predict the overall outcome and impact of COVID-19 and the duration of disruption
could be longer than anticipated. Under the severe but plausible downside scenario modelled and after allowing for the effect of
mitigating actions within the control of management, the forecasts demonstrate that the Group is expected to maintain sufficient
liquidity and remain in compliance with covenants throughout the forecast period.
It is difficult to predict the overall outcome and impact of COVID-19, but under the above scenario analysis, the Group has sufficient
liquidity and resources throughout the period under review whilst still maintaining adequate headroom against overall facilities.
Although outside of the 18-month going concern period management have also considered the repayment of £3m shareholder
loans in July 2022 and, even in the downside scenario, expect to be able to repay this out of cash resources at that time.
The directors therefore remain confident that the Group has adequate resources to continue to meet its liabilities as and when they
fall due within the period of at least 18 months from the date of approval of these financial statements. Accordingly, the Company’s
financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.
New standards, amendments to standards or interpretations
The following Adopted IFRSs have been issued but have not been applied by the Group in these financial statements. Their
adoption is not expected to have a material effect on the financial statements unless otherwise indicated:
Standards in effect in 2020
IFRS 16 Leases (effective date 1 January 2019);
IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments (effective date 1 January 2019);
Amendments to IFRS 9: Prepayment features with Negative Compensation (effective date 1 January 2019);
Amendments to IAS 19: Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement (effective date 1 January 2019);
Amendments to IAS 28: Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures (effective date 1 January 2019); and
Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2015-2017 Cycle (Amendments to IFRSs 3 and 11, IASs 12 and 23) (effective date 1
January 2019).
These have been adopted in the period. With the exception of IFRS 16, the adoption of these standards and amendments did not
have a material impact on these financial statements. Note 2 provides detail of the impact of IFRS 16 adoption.
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IFRS in issue but not applied in the current financial statements
The following IFRS and IFRIC Interpretations have been issued but have not been applied by the Company in preparing these
financial statements as they are not as yet effective. The Company intends to adopt these Standards and Interpretations when
they become effective, rather than adopt them early.
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (effective date to be confirmed);
Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards (effective date January 2020);
Definition of a Business (Amendments to IFRS 3) (effective date January 2020); and
Definition of Material (Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8) (effective date January 2020).
A number of IFRS and IFRIC interpretations are also currently in issue which are not relevant for the Company’s activities and which
have not therefore been adopted in preparing these financial statements.
The Group continues to monitor the potential impact of other new standards and interpretations which may be endorsed by the
European Union and require adoption by the Group in future reporting periods.
The following principal accounting policies have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these Group financial
statements.
Basis of consolidation
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to,
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and its ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the activities of
the entity.
The financial results of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences
until the date that control ceases.
All intra-Group balances and transactions, including unrealised profits arising from intra-Group transactions, are eliminated fully
on consolidation.
Foreign currencies
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded using the rate of exchange ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated using the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date and the
gains and losses on translation are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated to the Group’s presentational currency (sterling), at foreign exchange
rates ruling at the balance sheet date. Exchange differences arising from this translation of foreign operations are reported as an
item of other comprehensive income and accumulated in the foreign exchange reserve.
Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are held at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment charges.
Depreciation is provided at the following annual rates in order to write off the cost less estimated residual value of property, plant
and equipment over their estimated useful lives as follows:

78

Computer equipment

– 10 to 50%

Office fixtures and fittings

– 10 to 25%

Company Overview

Strategic Report

Governance

Financial Statements

Intangible assets – goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities of the acquired subsidiary at the date of acquisition. Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets.
Goodwill is tested annually for impairment and carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Acquired intangible assets – business combinations
Intangible assets that are acquired as a result of a business combination but that can be separately measured at fair value on a
reliable basis are separately recognised on acquisition at their fair value. Amortisation is charged on a straight-line basis to the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income over their expected useful economic lives. For the Group’s intangible assets this
has been assessed to be between three and 25 years (2019: between three and 25 years) depending on the individual asset.
Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment
and whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Assets that are subject to
amortisation are tested for impairment at least annually or when events or a change in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable.
Research and development
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.
An intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase of an internal project) is recognised if, and only if, the
Group can demonstrate all of the following:
the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale;
its intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;
its ability to use or sell the intangible asset;
how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits. Among other things, the Group can demonstrate
the existence of a market for the output of the intangible asset or the intangible asset itself or, if it is to be used internally, the
usefulness of the intangible asset;
the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the
intangible asset; and
its ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.
Internally generated intangible assets are amortised over their useful economic life, over a period not exceeding five years (2019:
five years). Where no internally generated intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.
Development costs capitalised and included as an asset within the financial statements have not been treated as a realised loss for
the purpose of determining distributable reserves.
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Impairment
The carrying amount of the Group’s non-financial assets, are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine whether there is
any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.
For goodwill, assets that have an indefinite useful life and intangible assets that are not yet available for use, the recoverable
amount is estimated at each balance sheet date.
An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its CGU exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses are recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and the value in use. The value in use is based on the net present value
of future cash flow projections discounted at pre-tax rates appropriate for each CGU. For the purposes of assessing impairments,
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are identifiable cash flows.
Goodwill is initially allocated between the Group’s CGUs by reference to the expected benefits from synergies of the combination.
There are currently eight CGUs: United Kingdom, United States, France, Germany, The Netherlands, Global Transactions, Proactis
Tenders and bePayd.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of CGUs are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to
CGUs (group of units) and then, to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets of the unit (group of units) on a pro-rata basis.
Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value. Trade receivables that are past due are considered individually for impairment.
The Group has applied the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses. An expected credit methodology
based on two-year historic data has been used as an indicator for impairment. The Group has considered the impacts over the
period to 28 October 2020 of COVID-19 on the trade receivables and as a result has no reason to revise this methodology. The
Group has no reason to expect that the two-year historic data would not provide a fair indicator of the future impairment.
Financial assets
The Group classifies its financial assets as loans and receivables measured at amortised cost and cash and cash equivalents.
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed and determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. They arise principally through the provision of services to customers (trade debtors). They are carried at amortised cost.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of
the consolidated cash flow statement.
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are comprised of trade payables and other short-term monetary liabilities, which are recognised at amortised
cost.
Contingent consideration
Any contingent consideration payable balances arising are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. If the contingent
consideration is classified as equity, it is not remeasured and settlement is accounted for within equity. Otherwise, subsequent
changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognised in profit or loss.
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Derivative financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments are recognised at fair value. The gain or loss on remeasurement to fair value is recognised
immediately in profit or loss. The Group has convertible loan notes that have been issued and depending on the terms of the
agreement these are either measured as a single instrument at fair value or as a hybrid instrument with the derivative element
measured at fair value and the host liability measured at amortised cost.
Revenue recognition
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers establishes a comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much
and when revenue is recognised. The standard requires revenue earned to be recognised in line with performance obligations
based on a five step model. The Group identifies its performance obligations with respect to the different services being provided.
The following summarises the performance obligations that the Group has identified for significant revenue lines and provides
information regarding the performance obligation and the revenue recognition policy.
Customers are split between Buyer and Supplier customers across the Group’s product and service portfolio. The definition for each
type of revenue recognition across SaaS and Service revenues is also identified by customer type after each definition.
SaaS revenue:
Revenue from hosted software subscription fees, software maintenance, software support and hosting services are
recognised on a straight-line basis as their separate performance obligations are met over the period of supply. The period
of supply being from the date of go-live, as defined in the contract, over the term of the contract. (Buyer and Supplier
customers);
Revenue from non-hosted software fees usually consists of two performance obligations being the issue of a licence to a
customer which enables them to utilise the software and the ongoing maintenance and support for the customer. The
provision of the licence is recognised at a point in time as performance obligations are met at the point of the supply given
that the performance obligation is deemed to have been discharged with no ongoing obligations following the activation of
the licence. In this instance, the transaction price is allocated according to the observable standalone selling price of the
relative components. The software maintenance is a separate performance obligation that is met, as noted above, over the
period of supply. It should be noted that only the UK has product that is sold as non-hosted and that the significant
proportion of software sales within the Group are hosted. (Buyer customers); and
Revenue from managed services is recognised as performance obligations are met over the period of supply. The period of
supply being from either the contract date or the point of go-live (as defined in the contract), over the term of the contract.
The managed services may either be met on a straight-line basis over the period of supply or on a utilisation basis (as
defined in the contract) depending on whether the contract states an unlimited or limited number of events are to be
delivered by the Group. Managed services include provision of tender information services, scanning services and auction
services. (Buyer customers)
Services revenue:
Revenue from consultancy services is recognised systematically over the period of time that delivery to a customer has
occurred in line with the work completed. Consultancy services include services such as installation and implementation
(technical configuration) services, training and adhoc technical and consultancy services. The provision of implementation
services does not create an asset with an alternative use for the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for the performance of the work completed to date. (Buyer and Supplier customers).
Customers pay a fee annually (generally) for a defined contractual term, normally three or five years. In the case where a single
contract involves the combination of any or all of the revenue types described above, the amount of consideration is derived from
an assessment of the fair value of each of the individual constituent elements of the goods and services provided. The revenue
allocated to each element is recognised as outlined above. The Group is able to reliably measure the fair value of each element
of these contracts using a combination of factors including the contract price agreed with the client, through consideration of the
relative value of each element of the contract and through the contract price charged for those elements in similar circumstances
with other clients.
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Revenue invoiced but not recognised in the income statement under this policy is classified as contract liabilities in the balance
sheet. Revenue billed in arrears is accrued only if it is highly probable that it will not significantly reverse and is classified as trade
and other receivables in the balance sheet.
The Group utilises business partners to access certain markets as distributors. Where a business partner sells the Group’s products
or services and Proactis retains the control and responsibility for the product, the sale is treated as revenue by the Group and the
commission payable to the business partner is capitalised and expensed over the life of the contract as a cost of sale. Proactis
approves the pricing structures between the business partners and the end customer.
Leases
Prior to transition to IFRS 16 – Leases, rental charges on operating leases were charged to the consolidated income statement on
a straight-line basis over the life of the lease. Finance leases were recognised at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the
leased asset, or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. Lease payments were apportioned between the
finance charges and the reduction of the lease liability to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.
Such finance charges were included in the consolidated income statement within net financing expense.
The overall impact and further details relating to IFRS 16 are disclosed in Note 2.
Following the transition to IFRS 16, the Group considers whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A lease is defined as ‘a contract,
or part of a contract, that conveys the right to use an asset (the underlying asset) for a period of time in exchange for consideration’.
To apply this definition the Group assesses whether the contract meets three key evaluations which are whether:
the contract contains an identified asset, which is either explicitly identified in the contract or implicitly specified by being
identified at the time the asset is made available to the Group;
the Group has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from the identified asset throughout the period of
use, considering its rights within the defined scope of the contract; and
the Group has the right to direct the use of the identified asset throughout the period of use. The Group assesses whether it
has the right to direct ‘how and for what purpose’ the asset is used throughout the period of use.
At lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-of-use asset (“ROU”) and a lease liability on the balance sheet. The
ROU asset is measured at cost, which is made up of the initial measurement of the lease liability, any initial direct costs incurred by
the Group and any lease payments made in advance of the lease commencement date (net of any incentives received).
The Group depreciates the ROU assets on a straight-line basis from the lease commencement date to the earlier of the end of
the useful life of the ROU asset or the end of the lease term. The Group also assesses the ROU asset for impairment when such
indicators exist.
At the commencement date, the Group measures the lease liability at the present value of the lease payments unpaid at that
date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that rate is readily available or alternatively, the Group’s incremental
borrowing rate.
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability are made up of fixed payments (including in-substance fixed),
amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee and payments arising from options reasonably certain to be
exercised. Maintenance payments which vary are not included within the measurement of the initial lease liability; these are instead
recognised in the consolidated income statement in line with their usage.
Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be reduced for payments made and increased for interest. It is remeasured to
reflect any reassessment or modification, or if there are changes to in-substance fixed payments.
When the lease liability is remeasured, the corresponding adjustment is reflected in the ROU asset, or profit and loss if the ROU
asset is already reduced to zero.
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As permitted, the Group has elected not to apply the requirements of IFRS 16 for either short-term leases or leases of low-value
assets. Instead of recognising a ROU asset and lease liability, the payments in relation to these are recognised as an expense in
consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
ROU assets have been included in property, plant and equipment and lease liabilities have been included within their own category
in the consolidated balance sheet.
Post-retirement benefits
The Group operates defined contribution pension schemes. The assets of the schemes are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund.
In France there is a requirement to make a lump sum pension payment if an employee reaches retirement age whilst employed by
the Company. A retirement provision has been recalculated based on the employees in each of the two French entities as at the 31
July 2020.
The amount charged to the income statement represents the contributions payable to the defined contribution pension schemes
in respect of the accounting period and the movement in the French pension provision.
Share-based payments
The fair value of awards to employees that take the form of shares or rights to shares is recognised as an employee expense with a
corresponding increase in equity. The fair value is measured at grant date and spread over the period during which the employees
become unconditionally entitled to the options. The fair value of the options granted is measured using an option valuation model,
taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. The amount recognised as an expense is
adjusted to reflect the actual number of share options that vest except where forfeiture is due only to share prices not achieving the
threshold for vesting.
Taxation
Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in the income statement except
to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in previous years.
Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method, providing for temporary differences between carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. A deferred tax asset is recognised
only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which an asset can be utilised.
Provisions
A provision for onerous contracts is measured at the present value of the lower of the expected cost of terminating the contract and
the expected net cost of continuing with the contract. Before a provision is established, the Group recognises any impairment loss
on the assets associated with that contract.
Non-controlling interests (“NCIs)
NCIs are measured initially at their proportionate share of the acquirer’s identifiable net assets at the date of acquisition.
Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions.
Cost of sales
Cost of sales includes direct external costs incurred in the course of delivering revenue for the Group. It includes third party reseller
commission costs, hosting fees, external consultancy costs and licence fees.
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2. Change in significant accounting policies
IFRS 16 - Leases was adopted by the Group on 1 August 2019. The new standard provides a single lease accounting model,
specifying how leases are recognised, measured, presented and disclosed.
The Group has applied IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective transition approach. Therefore, the comparative information
has not been restated and continues to be reported under IAS 17. Under IFRS 16, the Group distinguishes between leases and
service contracts based on whether there is an identified asset controlled by the Group. Control exists if the lessee has the right
to obtain substantially all of the economic benefit from the use of the asset (the cash flows generated by that asset) and the
right to direct the use of that asset as if it were their own. Where control exists, the Group is required to recognise a ROU asset
and an opposing discounted lease liability, rather than accounting for operating lease payments through the consolidated
income statement.
Lease liabilities were determined based on the value of the remaining lease payments, discounted by the appropriate
incremental borrowing rates. The ROU assets were measured based on the related lease liability as at the date of transition,
adjusted for prepaid or accrued lease payments. The financial statement impact of IFRS 16 is shown within this note.
On initial adoption, the Group has elected to use the following practical expedients proposed by the standard:
Lease payments for contracts with a duration of 12 months or less to be expensed to the income statement on a straightline basis over the lease term;
Lease payments for contracts for which the underlying asset is of a low value (defined by the Group as below £5,000)
to be expensed to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term;
The application of a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar characteristics, for example
copiers with a similar lease term; and
The Group has not reassessed whether a contract is, or contains, a lease at the date of initial application.
Judgements made in applying IFRS 16 include assessing the lease term and identifying the discount rate to be used.
Under IFRS 16, the Group has capitalised the right of use of properties, cars and copiers previously held under operating leases.
At the date of adoption 10 properties, 17 cars and 17 copiers were capitalised. The lease term corresponds to the duration of the
contracts signed.
The Group has recognised a ROU asset representing its right to use the underlying asset and a corresponding lease liability
representing its obligation to make lease payments. Operating lease expenses have been replaced by a depreciation expense
on ROU assets recognised and an interest expense as the interest rate implicit in the Group’s lease liabilities unwinds. When the
interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determined, the Group’s incremental borrowing rate has been used.
Finance leases previously capitalised under IAS 17 ‘Leases’ have been reclassified to the ROU asset category under IFRS 16.
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The following table summarises the impacts of adopting IFRS 16 on the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position as
at 1 August 2019.
As reported 31
July 2019
£000

IFRS 16
impacts
£000

Property, plant & equipment

1,625

5,135

6,760

Trade and other receivables

23,048

(108)

22,940

21,616

(216)

21,400

30

(30)

-

-

1,029

1,029

27

(27)

-

-

4,271

4,271

Trade and other payables
Obligations under finance leases
Lease liabilities
Obligations under finance leases
Lease liabilities

Adjusted opening
balance sheet
£000

The adoption of IFRS 16 in the 12 months to 31 July 2020 resulted in an increase in depreciation of £1,111,000 and finance
expenses of £128,000. Other operating expenses decreased by £1,154,000.
The Group’s banking covenants have not been impacted by the adoption of IFRS 16, they continue to be measured and
monitored on a ‘frozen GAAP’ basis.

3. Operating segments
Basis for segmentation
The Group determines and presents operating segments based on the information that internally is provided to the Board of
Directors, which is considered to be the Group’s Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”).
IFRS 8 requires consideration of the CODM within the Group. In line with Group’s internal reporting framework and
management structure, the key strategic and operating decisions are made by the Board of Directors, which reviews internal
monthly management reports, budget and forecast information as part of this. Accordingly, the Board of Directors is deemed
to be the CODM.
Operating segments have been identified based on the internal reporting information and management structures within
the Group and take into consideration the relative size of the operation. The Board has determined there are two (2019:
four) reportable segments being the Business Spend Management (“Buyer”) and the Supplier business, based on how the
Group goes to market. The Board has determined that this is a more appropriate segmentation than the prior year approach
of segments by geographical location and reflects the high level distinct divide between buyer and supplier customers. This
reporting change reflects the internal organisations changes that have occurred during the year. As the Group continues to
develop and expand, the number of reportable segments will be kept under review.
Each reportable segment derives its revenues from the sale of business software and associated services.
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Information about reportable segments
Information related to each reportable segment is set out below. Segment revenue is analysed below, split as software as a
service (“SaaS”) revenue and professional services revenue.
Segment contribution is used to measure performance because management believes that this information is the most relevant
in evaluating the results of the respective segments relative to other entities that operate in the same industries. Contribution is
defined as revenue less direct costs.
Buyer
£000

Supplier
£000

Total
£000

36,725

8,089

44,814

4,317

440

4,757

41,042

8,529

49,571

(20,492)

(2,850)

(23,342)

20,550

5,679

26,229

39,909

8,837

48,746

4,951

443

5,394

Segment revenue

44,860

9,280

54,140

Direct costs

(21,203)

(2,397)

(23,600)

23,657

6,883

30,540

2020
£000

2019
£000

26,229

30,540

(17,229)

(16,641)

2020
SaaS revenue
Services revenue
Segment revenue
Direct costs
Segment contribution

2019 (restated)
SaaS revenue
Services revenue

Segment contribution

Reconciliations of information on reportable segments to IFRS measures

Total contribution reportable segments
Central costs (including non-core net expenditure)
Depreciation

(1,642)

(608)

Amortisation

(10,664)

(10,136)

Impairment of goodwill

(14,813)

(26,999)

Share based payment charges

(247)

(541)

Net interest cost

(974)

(1,435)

(19,340)

(25,820)

Consolidated (loss) before tax
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Geographic information
The geographic information analyses the Group’s revenue and non-current assets by the Company’s country of domicile and
other countries. In presenting the geographic information, segment revenue has been based on the geographic location of
customers and segment assets were based on the geographic location of the assets.

2020
£000

2019
£000

Revenue
UK

21,041

23,041

US

10,135

11,702

Mainland Europe

18,395

19,397

49,571

54,140

There are no customers who represent more than 10% of revenue for the current or prior year.
2020
£000

2019
£000

UK

110,941

127,046

US

8,191

7,042

4,640

3,322

421

297

124,193

137,707

Non-current assets

Mainland Europe
Rest of World

Non-current assets exclude financial instruments and deferred tax assets.

87

Proactis Annual Report 2020

Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements
4. Employees and Directors’ remuneration
2020
£000

2019
£000

Staff costs :
Wages and salaries

26,146

24,337

Social security costs

3,318

2,909

Other pension costs

1,089

965

247

541

30,800

28,752

(6,682)

(5,860)

24,118

22,892

467

448

49

50

516

498

Share based payments

Amounts capitalised within development costs and software for own use (Note 12)*

Average number of employees (including directors) during the year
Sales and production
Administrative

*Note that capitalised development costs (see Note 12) include staff costs and other external costs incurred. The figure
above of £6,682,000 represents only the internal staff costs within the total capitalised amount.
Details of directors’ remuneration subject to audit are provided in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 40 to 47.
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5. Share-based payments
At 31 July 2020, the Group had the following share-based payment arrangements.
Share Option programmes (equity settled)
The Group operates one Inland Revenue approved EMI scheme incentive plan and four unapproved share option plans
(ESO, ESO 2017, Executive Bonus Plan 2017, LTIP 2017). The vesting of all awards is based on the achievement of certain
market and non-market performance conditions.
Details of the option grants remaining unexercised at 31 July 2020 are given below:
Grant
date
28 September 2010
14 January 2014
16 May 2014
2 June 2014
1 August 2014
4 November 2015
12 February 2016
10 November 2016
16 November 2016
25 August 2017
28 August 2017
16 October 2017
1 August 2018
1 August 2018
6 August 2018
15 February 2019

Employees
entitled

Number of
options granted

Performance
conditions

Exercise
price (p)

Expiry
date

5
2
1
1
2
4
3
1
4
3
1
1
13
13
2
1

41,000
1,271,920
50,000
50,000
75,000
141,667
470,000
50,000
106,667
518,939
451,842
50,000
750,000
750,000
150,000
50,000

Time served and share price performance
Share price performance
Time served
Time served
Time served
Time served
Time served
Time served and performance
Time served
Time served and share price performance
Time served
Time served
Time served
Time served
Time served
Time served

34.00
36.50
52.50
49.00
56.00
127.50
114.50
125.00
135.00
10.00
43.00
151.50
165.00
100.00
108.00
116.50

Note 1
Note 2
Note 3
Note 4
Note 5
Note 6
Note 7
Note 8
Note 9
Note 10
Note 11
Note 12
Note 13
Note 13
Note 14
Note 15

Note 1: These options have vested and must be exercised on or before 27 September 2020.
Note 2: These options have vested and must be exercised on or before 13 January 2024.
Note 3: These options have vested and must be exercised on or before 7 February 2024.
Note 4: These options have vested and must be exercised on or before 2 June 2024.
Note 5: These options have vested and must be exercised on or before 1 August 2024.
Note 6: These options have vested and must be exercised on or before 3 November 2025.
Note 7: These options have vested and must be exercised on or before 11 February 2026.
Note 8: These options have vested and must be exercised on or before 9 November 2026.
Note 9: These options have vested and must be exercised on or before 15 November 2026.
Note 10: These options are granted under the conditions of the LTIP scheme and vest only if earnings per share and share price targets are
met by reference to the three years ending 31 July 2020. If the options vest, they must be exercised on or before 25 August 2027, otherwise
they will lapse.
Note 11: These options have vested and must be exercised on or before 28 August 2027.
Note 12: These options have vested and must be exercised on or before 15 October 2027.
Note 13: These options vest as to one third on the first anniversary of the date of grant, as to one third on the second anniversary of the
date of grant and as to one third on the third anniversary of the date of grant. These options must be exercised on or before 31 July 2028.
Note 14: These options vest as to one third on the first anniversary of the date of grant, as to one third on the second anniversary of the date
of grant and as to one third on the third anniversary of the date of grant. These options must be exercised on or before 5 August 2028.
Note 15: These options vest as to one third on the first anniversary of the date of grant, as to one third on the second anniversary of the date
of grant and as to one third on the third anniversary of the date of grant. These options must be exercised on or before 14 February 2029.
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5. Share-based payments (continued)
Reconciliation of outstanding share options
The number and weighted average exercise price of share options are as follows:
Weighted average
exercise price
2020 (p)

Number of
options 2020
(number)

Weighted
average exercise
price 2019 (p)

Number of
options 2019
(number)

76.9

5,277,035

54.9

3,387,035

Granted during the year

-

-

116.0

2,300,000

Exercised during the year

-

-

28.1

(100,000)

Lapsed during the year

10.0

(300,000)

143.3

(310,000)

Outstanding at end of the year

80.9

4,977,035

76.9

5,277,035

Exercisable at end of the year

82.5

3,858,090

62.9

2,718,096

Outstanding at start of year

Options outstanding at 31 July 2020 have exercise prices in the range 10p to 165p.
During the current and prior period, the Group has not granted equity as consideration for goods or services received
other than those disclosed for business acquisitions in Note 29. The Group has granted share options under the share
option schemes to selected employees.
Fair value assumptions of share based payments
The fair value of services received in return for share options granted is measured by reference to the fair value of share
options granted. The estimate of fair value is measured using the Black-Scholes model. The following assumptions were
used to determine fair value of the options:
Black Scholes
Weighted average share price at grant date (pence)

116.0

Exercise price (pence)

116.0

Expected volatility (%)

41.6

Average option life (year)

10

Expected dividend (%)

1.4

Risk free interest rate (%)

0.84

The expected volatility is based on the historic volatility of the Company’s share price.

Charge to the income statement
The charge to the income statement comprises:

Share-based payment charges
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6. Operating loss
2020
£000

2019
£000

Operating loss is stated after charging :
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (see Note 11)

1,642

608

Amortisation of software for own use and development costs (see Note 12)

7,185

6,657

3,479

3,479

14,813

26,999

247

541

Land and buildings

-

1,219

Other equipment

-

330

157

-

2020
£000

2019
£000

152

178

118

75

Other services relating to taxation compliance

27

29

Other tax services

20

10

2020
£000

2019
£000

Amortisation of customer related intangible assets (see Note 12)
Impairment of goodwill (see Note 12)
Share base payment charge
Operating lease rentals arising under IAS 17:

Lease rentals on short-term and low value leases arising under IFRS 16

Auditors’ remuneration:
Audit of these financial statements
Amounts receivable by auditors and their associates in respect of:
Audit of financial statements of subsidiaries pursuant to legislation

7. Finance income

Other interest receivable

-

5

8. Finance expenses

Bank interest

2020
£000

2019
£000

1,291

1,299

273

141

Change in fair value of convertible loan notes

(282)

-

Net foreign exchange gain on convertible loan notes

(219)

-

(89)

-

974

1,440

Other interest

Release of equity component of convertible loan notes
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9. Taxation
Recognised in the income statement
2020
£000

2019
£000

Current tax
Current year

407

945

Adjustment in respect of prior periods

(87)

(573)

Total current tax

320

372

Adjustment in respect of prior periods
Effect of change in tax rates on deferred tax
Recognised in current year

78
372
(750)

739
(84)
(324)

Total deferred tax

(300)

331

20

703

2020
£000

2019
£000

(19,340)

(25,820)

(3,675)

(4,906)

(422)

(492)

(87)

(573)

78

739

2,745

5,161

(304)

(530)

(367)

(323)

372

(84)

1,581

1,485

Adjustments in respect of share-based payments

99

226

Total tax charge

20

703

Deferred tax

Total tax in income statement
Reconciliation of effective tax rate

Loss before tax for the period
Tax using the UK corporation tax rate of 19% (2019: 19%)
Effect of differential foreign tax rates
Current tax adjustments in respect of prior periods
Deferred tax adjustments in respect of prior periods
Disallowable net expenses
2

Losses used not previously recognised

1

Relief from governmental tax incentives

Effect of change in tax rates on deferred tax (see next page)
Current year losses for which no deferred tax asset is recognised

Note 1: This item includes the effect of tax relief in respect of qualifying governmental tax incentives.
Note 2: The Group has substantial tax losses in some of its subsidiary undertakings which have been utilised during the period. These are
reviewed annually and a deferred tax asset based on the next three-five years profitability is recognised in these numbers.
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The March 2020 Budget announced that a rate of 19% would continue to apply with effect from 1 April 2020, and this
change was substantively enacted on 17 March 2020. The UK deferred tax asset and liabilities at 31 July 2020 have been
calculated based on these rates.

Contingent liability
A claim in relation to the amount of tax paid was lodged during the financial year against a branch in the Philippines.
The Group considers that it has complied with relevant legislation and is robustly defending the action. Legal advice
received by the Group indicates that it is less than probable that a material liability will arise, however it is not possible to
reasonably estimate any potential outflow given the current status of the investigation.

10. Basic and diluted earnings per ordinary share
The calculation of earnings per ordinary share is based on the profit or loss for the period attributable to ordinary
shareholders and the weighted average number of equity voting shares in issue as follows.
2020
£000

2019
£000

(19,017)

(26,462)

Post tax effect of non-core net expenditure (see additional information)

2,007

700

Post tax effect on customer-related intangible assets

3,571

3,454

14,813

26,999

Post tax effect of share-based payment charges

247

541

Post tax effect of convertible loan note interest

116

113

Post tax effect of fair value and foreign currency on convertible loan note

(591)

-

Non-recurring tax factors

1,650

873

Post tax effect of adjusted earnings

2,796

6,218

Loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company

Post tax effect on impairment of goodwill

95,485

94,913

Dilutive effect of share options (number ‘000)

565

1,771

Fully diluted number of shares (number ‘000)

96,050

96,684

(19.9)

(27.9)

2.9

6.6

(19.9)

(27.9)

2.9

6.4

Weighted average number of shares (number ‘000)

Basic loss per ordinary share (pence)
Adjusted earnings per ordinary share (pence)
Diluted loss per ordinary share (pence)
Adjusted diluted earnings per ordinary share (pence)

93

Proactis Annual Report 2020

Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements
11. Property, plant and equipment
Computer
equipment
£000

Office fixtures
& fittings
£000

Right-of-use
assets
£000

Total
£000

Cost
At 31 July 2018
Additions
On acquisitions
Effect of movements in exchange rates
Disposals
At 31 July 2019
Recognised on adoption of IFRS 16
Additions

1,986

652

-

2,638

278

308

-

586

56

58

-

114

60

10

-

70

(49)

(8)

-

(57)

2,331

1,020

-

3,351

-

-

5,135

5,135

319

178

232

729
(220)

Remeasurements

-

-

(220)

Transfers

-

(70)

70

-

Effect of movements in exchange rates

(323)

(11)

(146)

(480)

Disposals

(314)

(69)

-

(383)

At 31 July 2020

2,013

1,048

5,071

8,132

At 31 July 2018

994

145

-

1,139

Charge for the year

455

153

-

608

43

(8)

-

35

(48)

(8)

-

(56)

1,444

282

-

1,726

-

(28)

28

1,642

Depreciation

Effect of movements in exchange rates
Disposals
At 31 July 2019
Transfers
Charge for the year

356

161

1,125

Effect of movements in exchange rates

(305)

(8)

3

(310)

Disposals

(304)

(61)

-

(365)

1,191

346

1,156

2,693

At 31 July 2019

887

738

-

1,625

At 31 July 2020

822

702

3,915

5,439

At 31 July 2020
Net book value

Net book value of ROU assets of £3,915,000 (2019: £Nil) includes land and buildings £3,497,000 (2019: £Nil), motor vehicles £322,000
(2019: £Nil) and other office equipment £96,000 (2019: £Nil).
ROU assets include other office equipment previously held within office fixtures and fittings under IAS 17 (Leases) with a net book value of
£28,000 (2019: £42,000).
Depreciation charge in relation to ROU assets of £1,125,000 (2019: £Nil) includes land and buildings £915,000 (2019: £Nil), motor vehicles
£166,000 (2019: £Nil) and other office equipment £44,000 (2019: £Nil).
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Intangible assets

Goodwill
£000

Customer
related
intangibles
£000

Development
costs
£000

Software
own use
£000

Total
£000

106,672

39,300

22,994

3,688

172,654

-

-

7,431

180

7,611

Cost
At 31 July 2018
Internally developed

9,086

3,056

1,505

90

13,737

Additions

-

-

-

38

38

Transfers

-

-

70

(70)

-

Effect of movements in exchange rates

-

-

765

12

777

115,758

42,356

32,765

3,938

194,817
8,525

On acquisitions

At 31 July 2019
Internally developed

-

-

8,506

19

Additions

-

-

-

33

33

Disposals

-

-

-

(117)

(117)

Effect of movements in exchange rates

-

-

(1,207)

(93)

(1,300)

115,758

42,356

40,064

3,780

201,958

At 31 July 2018

-

6,655

12,146

2,441

21,242

Amortisation for the year

-

3,479

6,010

647

10,136

26,999

-

-

-

26,999

-

-

353

5

358

26,999

10,134

18,509

3,093

58,735

At 31 July 2020
Amortisation and impairment

Impairment in the year
Effect of movements in exchange rates
At 31 July 2019

-

3,479

6,717

468

10,664

14,813

-

-

-

14,813

Disposals

-

-

-

(117)

(117)

Effect of movements in exchange rates

-

-

(800)

(91)

(891)

41,812

13,613

24,426

3,353

83,204

At 31 July 2019

88,759

32,222

14,256

845

136,082

At 31 July 2020

73,946

28,743

15,638

427

118,754

Amortisation for the year
Impairment in the year

At 31 July 2020
Carrying amounts
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12.

Intangible assets (continued)

The goodwill and other intangible assets are allocated to the Group’s Cash Generating Units (“CGUs”) as follows
Buyer

Supplier

United
Kingdom
£000

United
States
£000

Goodwill

31,492

8,140

1,301

2,388

11,090

6,518

13,017

Other intangible assets

11,295 14,310

4,894

1,291

4,692

3,909

3,407

1,010 44,808

Total intangible assets

42,787 22,450

6,195

3,679

15,782

10,427

16,424

1,010 118,754

United
Kingdom
£000

Netherlands
£000

Rest of
Mainland
Europe
£000

United
States
£000

Total
£000

44,508

11,090

21,648

11,513

88,759

Other intangible assets

15,842

4,913

10,782

15,786

47,323

Total intangible assets

60,350

16,003

32,430

2020

2019

Goodwill

Global
France Germany Netherlands transactions
£000
£000
£000
£000

Proactis
Tenders
£000

bePayd
£000

Total
£000

-

73,946

27,299 136,082

Following the appointment of Tim Sykes as CEO, the Group has undergone a significant restructuring in terms of management
team structure. This has affected how management monitors and makes decisions about the Group’s operations, therefore,
as a result of this the Group reassessed the appropriateness of existing CGUs. As a result of this assessment, the CGUs were
reorganised to reflect the lowest level within the Group which goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and
to ensure than no CGU was larger than a segment of the business. The UK, US, France, Germany and Netherlands CGUs
consolidate into the Business Spend Management (“Buyer”) reportable segment. The Global Transactions, Proactis Tenders
and bePayd CGUs consolidate into the Supplier reportable segment. The CGUs are deemed to represent the lowest level
of assets generating largely independent cash inflows. The former aggregation of assets into CGUs reflected the reportable
segments of the Group in the prior period.
Goodwill impairment testing
In accordance with IFRS, the Group tests the carrying value of goodwill and intangible assets for impairment annually and
whenever events or circumstances change.
Impairment testing is performed by comparing the carrying value of those assets within each CGU to the recoverable
amount, determined on the basis of the CGU’s value in use. The value in use is based on the net present value of future cash
flow projections discounted at pre-tax rates appropriate for each CGU.
The Group’s CGUs for the purposes of impairment testing, consist of United Kingdom, United States, France, Germany,
Netherlands, Global Transactions, Proactis Tenders and bePayd.
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Intangible assets (continued)

The value-in-use calculations are based upon detailed budgets and forecasts prepared over a four-year period, followed
by an extrapolation into perpetuity for the terminal value of expected cash flows at growth rates given below, discounted
at the rates provided below. Growth rates used reflect the best estimates of the long-term growth rate for each CGU. The
discount rates reflect the different risk profiles the directors attach to each income stream and CGU.
Key assumptions used in the value-in-use calculations are as follows:

Long term growth rate

2020
%

2019
%

2.00

2.00

Discount rate (pre-tax rate) UK CGU

10.50

11.47

Discount rate (pre-tax rate) NL CGU

10.62

12.25

Discount rate (pre-tax rate) EU CGU

-

11.86

Discount rate (pre-tax rate) US CGU

10.45

16.51

Discount rate (pre-tax rate) FR CGU

9.20

-

Discount rate (pre-tax rate) DE CGU

11.87

-

9.66

-

Discount rate (pre-tax rate) Proactis Tenders CGU

10.49

-

Discount rate (pre-tax rate) bePayd CGU

10.54

-

Budgeted overall revenue growth rate (average of next 4 years)

9.79

3.58

Budgeted staff costs growth rate (average of next 4 years)

1.90

2.00

Discount rate (pre-tax rate) Global Transactions CGU

1

1

The budgeted average revenue growth rates range from around 2% in the most established CGUs to in the region of 29% in the smaller
expanding CGUs, which are growing from a lower base.

The value-in-use calculations performed at 31 July 2020 were prepared based on management’s best estimates of future
performance, taking into account market conditions and the historic performance of each CGU. Based on the value-in-use
calculations prepared for the United States, France and Germany CGUs there was a requirement for an impairment to be
recognised. The value-in-use for these CGUs reflects delayed pipeline conversion and slowed volume-related businesses
during the period under review including the impact of COVID-19. The recoverable amount of these CGUs was estimated
based on their value-in-use to be £20,216,000, £6,306,000 and £3,654,000 respectively. Accordingly, an impairment of
£3,373,000 was recognised for the United States CGU, £8,778,000 for the France CGU, and £2,663,000 for the Germany
CGU.
Management has identified that a reasonably possible change in two key assumptions could cause the carrying amount to
exceed the recoverable amount in the UK CGU. A 0.14% movement in the discount rate or a 0.28% reduction in initial revenue
growth would remove the headroom in the UK CGU.
Management has identified that a reasonably possible change in two key assumptions could cause the carrying amount
to exceed the recoverable amount in the Netherlands CGU. A 0.33% movement in the discount rate or a 0.69% reduction in
initial revenue growth would remove the headroom in the Netherlands CGU.
Management has identified that a reasonably possible change in two key assumptions could cause the carrying amount to
exceed the recoverable amount in the Proactis Tenders CGU. A 0.09% movement in the discount rate or a 0.26% reduction in
initial revenue growth would remove the headroom in the Proactis Tenders CGU.
Management does not believe a reasonable possible change in key assumptions would erode the headroom in the Global
Transactions and bePayd CGUs.
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Intangible assets (continued)

Other intangible assets
The directors determine the initial recognition of development costs and software for own use by reference to the amount
of time spent by relevant staff on development, subject to the expectation that the development will be completed and
there will either be an external market for the development or the asset will be used internally to assist in generating
future economic benefits. The directors currently consider that the full direct salary costs of the Group’s development
and technical teams and all of the costs of development resource bought in from third parties meet the criteria to be
capitalised. This estimate has not changed during this or the previous financial year.
Amortisation and impairment
The amortisation charge is recognised in the following line items in the income statement:
2020
£000

2019
£000

Development costs

6,717

6,010

Customer-related intangible assets

3,479

3,479

468

647

Impairment of goodwill

14,813

26,999

Administrative costs

25,477

37,135

Software for own use

Development costs, customer-related intangibles and software for own use are amortised on a straight-line basis over their
useful life, which is the period during which they are expected to generate revenue. The estimated useful life of development
costs and software for own use is three years (2019: three years) which resulted in an amortisation charge of £6,717,000
(2019: £6,010,000) and £468,000 (2019: £647,000) respectively. The directors’ consider that three years is a suitably short
estimate of the useful economic life of the development costs capitalised because of the fast rate of change of technological
advancement and market demand and this estimate has not changed during this or the previous financial year. The estimated
useful life of the customer-related intangible assets are in the range nine-25 years (2019: nine-25 years). This has resulted in
a charge of £3,479,000 (2019: £3,479,000).
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13. Trade and other receivables
2020
£000

2019
£000

Trade receivables (net of expected credit loss provision of £1,175,000 (2019: £1,908,000)
Prepayments

6,528
2,881

16,298
2,921

Contract assets
Deferred contract costs
Income tax

2,756
1,074
0

2,612
1,078
139

13,239

23,048

Included within trade and other receivables is £Nil (2019: £Nil) expected to be recovered in more than 12 months.
Trade and other receivables denominated in currencies other than sterling comprise £1,864,000 (2019: £10,893,000) of
trade receivables denominated in US dollars, £3,442,000 (2019: £4,212,000) denominated in Euros, £6,000 (2019: £13,000)
in New Zealand dollars, £Nil (2019: £108,000) in Canadian dollars, £22,000 (2019: £23,000) in Norwegian krone and
£55,000 (2019: £173,000) denominated in Australian dollars. The fair values of trade and other receivables are the same as
their book values.
The deferred contract costs balance relates to reseller commission costs and is recognised in the income statement at the
same time as associated revenues. Where revenue is generated through resellers, which is usually SaaS in nature, the revenue
is recognised in line with the accounting policies stated in Note 1. Contract costs to the value of £2,044,000 were recognised
within the P&L during the year.
The movement on the Group’s provisions against trade receivables are as follows:

At the start of the year
On acquisitions
Utilised in the period against uncollectable amounts
Charged to the income statement
Effect of movements in exchange rates
At the end of the year

2020
£000

2019
£000

1,908
(344)
(336)
(53)

4,032
17
(2,154)
(63)
76

1,175

1,908

Trade receivables that are past due are considered individually for impairment. The Group uses an expected credit
methodology based two-year historic data as an indicator for impairment. The Group has considered the impacts over the
period to 28 October 2020 of COVID-19 on the trade receivables and as a result has no reason to revise this methodology.
The Group has no reason to expect that the two-year historic data would not provide a fair indicator of the future impairment.
The summarised ageing analysis of trade receivables past due but not impaired is as follows:

Under 30 days overdue
Between 30 and 60 days overdue
Over 60 days overdue

2020
£000

2019
£000

781
184

1,738
297

31

252

996

2,287

Trade receivables that are under 30 days overdue have a loss rate of between 0.7% and 22.5% applied to them dependant
on the entity and type of sale. Trade receivables that are between 30 and 60 days overdue have a loss rate of between 3.7%
and 39.7% applied to them. Trade receivables that are over 60 days overdue have a loss rate of between 8.5% and 100%
applied to them.
The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets.
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Cash and cash equivalents

2020
£000

2019
£000

4,424

7,732

Cash and cash equivalents denominated in foreign currencies other than sterling comprise £231,000 (2019: £3,282,000)
denominated in US dollars, £2,107,000 (2019: £1,452,000) denominated in Euros and £136,000 (2019: £252,000) in other
currencies.

15. Trade and other payables
2020
£000

2019
£000

Trade payables

2,358

14,470

Other taxes and social security

1,899

1,502

Accruals and other creditors

4,879

5,644

9,136

21,616

Trade and other payables denominated in currencies other than sterling comprise £2,266,000 (2019: £12,695,000) of
trade payables denominated in US dollars, £3,140,000 (2019: £739,000) in Euros and £249,000 (2019: £52,000) of trade
payables in other currencies.
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16. Contract liabilities
Contract liabilities arise from certain products and services sold by the Group. In return for a single upfront payment
or series of upfront payments, the Group commits to a fixed term contract to provide those products and services to
customers. In these circumstances, income is recognised evenly over the term of the contract.
Movement in the Group’s contract liabilities during the current and prior year are as follows:

Balance at the beginning of the period
On acquisitions
Income deferred to future periods
Release of income deferred from previous periods
Effects of movements in exchange rates

2020
£000

2019
£000

17,498

19,358

-

261

17,700

16,760

(16,443)

(19,377)

(329)

496

18,426

17,498

18,242

17,306

184

192

18,426

17,498

50,828

51,523

The contract liabilities are due as follows:
Within one year
After more than one year

Income recognised during the year is as follows:
Income received

(17,700)

(16,760)

Release of income deferred from previous periods

16,443

19,377

Income recognised in the year

49,571

54,140

Income deferred to future periods

Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations
Amounts of a customer contract’s transaction price that are allocated to the remaining performance obligations represent
contracted revenue that has not yet been recognised. This includes amounts recognised as contract liabilities and amounts
that are contracted but not yet invoiced.
The transaction price allocated to performance obligations that are not yet satisfied or are partially satisfied as at 31 July
2020 is £46.9m. This amount mostly comprises obligations to provide software support and subscriptions as the Group’s
respective contracts typically have durations of one or multiple years.
A significant proportion of this amount is expected to be recognised over the next 12 months, which is judgemental as it
includes management estimates of possible future contract modifications. The amount of transaction price allocated to the
remaining performance obligations, and changes in this amount over time, are impacted by a number of factors, including:
Currency movements; and
The timing of contract renewals.
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17. Deferred tax assets and liabilities
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are analysed below and are disclosed as non-current assets or liabilities in the
balance sheet.
2020
£000

2019
£000

746

755

Deferred tax liabilities

2020
£000

2019
£000

On customer-related intangible assets, development costs and software for own use

9,190

9,606

Share options

-

(52)

Trading losses

(380)

(401)

8,810

9,153

Deferred tax assets
Trading losses arising in foreign operations

Movement in deferred tax for the year ended 31 July 2020
As at 31
July 2019
£000

Foreign
exchange
movements
£000

As at 31
July 2020
£000

755

(9)

746

Deferred tax assets
Trading losses arising in foreign operations

As at
Foreign
31 July
exchange
2019 movements
£000
£000

Tax
rate
Income
change Statement
£000
£000

As at
31 July
2020
£000

Deferred tax liabilities
On customer-related intangible assets,
development costs and software for
own use
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9,606

(43)

374

(747)

9,190

Share options

(52)

-

(2)

54

-

Trading losses

(401)

-

-

21

(380)

9,153

(43)

372

(672)

8,810
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Deferred tax assets not recognised

2020
£000

2019
£000

Accessible tax losses - not recognised as future economic benefit is uncertain

16,024

16,370

Deductible temporary differences

14,437

16,421

The Group has not recognised a deferred tax asset in relation to these tax losses as there is not sufficient certainty regarding
the likelihood that the entities will be in a position to utilise these in the future.

18. Share capital
2020
£000

2019
£000

9,553

9,522

Allotted, called up and fully paid
95,532,628 ordinary shares of 10p each (2019: 95,218,796)

The Group made one share issue in September 2019 of 313,832 ordinary shares of 10p each at a weighted average price of
56.4p per share pursuant to the placing of new ordinary shares and exercising of options by past and present employees
or directors.
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that
it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, and to provide an adequate return to
shareholders by pricing products and services commensurately with the level of risk. The Group sets the amount of capital
in proportion to risk. The Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares, or sell assets to
reduce debt. During 2020, the Group’s strategy, which was unchanged from 2019, was to maximise net cash. The Board had
previously announced the suspension of annual dividend payments and therefore no dividends were paid in the current year.
Gross cash at 31 July 2020, including cash for assets held for sale, was £5,543,000 (2019: £7,732,000).
Share option schemes
The Company operates five share option schemes; an EMI Scheme and four Unapproved Option Schemes. At 31 July 2020,
options had been granted (but not exercised) under the EMI scheme over a total of 1,123,649 ordinary shares of the Company
(1.2% of the issued share capital of the Company). At 31 July 2020, options had been granted (but not exercised) under the
Unapproved Option Schemes over a total of 3,853,386 ordinary shares of the Company (4.0% of the issued share capital of
the Company).
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Capital and reserves

Share premium
The Group has issued 313,832 (2019: 1,982,673) ordinary shares of 10p each during the year at a weighted average
price of 56.4p (2019: 113.3p) per share, creating a share premium of £146,000 (2019: £2,049,000). Costs totalling £Nil
(2019: £Nil) were offset against the share premium. During the current financial year, the Company completed a capital
reduction which transferred the entire share premium into retained earnings. As a result of this the share premium as at
31 July 2020 is £Nil (2019: £83,513,000).
Merger reserve
The merger reserve of £556,000 (2019: £556,000) arose from the application of merger accounting principles to the
financial statements on implementation of the capital reorganisation of the Group during the year ended 31 July 2006.
The directors considered that this treatment was required for the accounts to present a true and fair view of the Group’s
results and financial position.
Capital reserve
The capital reserve arose on issue of share options as part of the consideration for the purchase of Alito (UK) Limited.
The reserve is not distributable.
Equity reserve
The equity reserve comprised of the amount allocated to the equity component for the convertible notes issued by
the Group in August 2017 and August 2018. Following a reassessment of the accounting treatment in the current year
this reserve has been released to the Consolidated Income Statement such that the reserve has a value of £Nil (2019:
£89,000).
Foreign exchange reserve
The foreign exchange reserve comprises all foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations, as well as any foreign currency differences arising from the retranslation of
intercompany balances which are in effect a net investment in a foreign operation.

20.

Loans and borrowings

Non-current liabilites
Secured bank loans
US Government loan
Convertible notes

Lease liabilities (2019: finance lease liabilities)

The convertible loan notes have a coupon rate of 2% and 3%.
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2020
£000

2019
£000

41,744

41,034

336

-

6,073

5,543

48,153

46,577

3,164

27

51,317

46,604
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Loans and borrowings (continued)

2020
£000

2019
£000

Secured bank loans

936

3,181

US Government loan

420

-

1,356

3,181

Current liabilites

Lease liabilities (2019: finance lease liabilities)

1,008

30

2,364

3,211

Information about the Group’s exposure to interest rate, foreign currency and liquidity risks is included in Note 24.
The terms and conditions of the outstanding loans are as follows.

Currency

Nominal
interest rate

Year of
maturity

2020
Face
value
£000

2020
Carrying
amount
£000

2019
Face
value
£000

2019
Carrying
amount
£000

GBP

LIBOR +1.95%

2022

7,500

7,500

9,760

9,760

GBP/EUR

LIBOR +1.75-3.5%

2022

35,180

35,180

34,455

34,455

US Government loan

USD

1%

2022

756

756

-

-

Convertible notes (A)

USD

2%

2022

2,550

2,550

2,833

2,833

Convertible notes (B)

EUR

3%

2023

2,602

2,602

2,710

2,710

Convertible notes (C)

EUR

3%

2024

921

921

-

-

4,172

4,172

57

57

53,681

53,681

49,815

49,815

Term facility
Revolving facility

Lease liabilities (2019:
finance lease liabilities)

GBP/EUR/USD

Total interest-bearing liabilities

The Term Loan and the Revolving Credit Facility are secured by way of a debenture over the assets of the Group and have
certain performance criteria related to their ongoing availability.
Convertible notes (A) were issued on 4 August 2017. They are convertible into 1,770,546 ordinary shares at any time at the
option of the holder. Any unconverted notes become payable on demand on 8 July 2022. This instrument is accounted for
at fair value.
Convertible notes (B) were issued on 6 August 2018. They are convertible into 1,578,425 ordinary shares at any time between
7 August 2020 and 6 August 2023 at the option of the holder. Any unconverted notes become payable on demand on 6
August 2023. These have been accounted for as a hybrid instrument. The amounts included above represent the value of
the host liability.
Convertible notes (C) were issued on 6 January 2020. They are convertible into 526,142 ordinary shares at any time between
7 January 2022 and 6 November 2024 at the option of the holder. Any unconverted notes become payable on demand on
6 November 2024. These have been accounted for as a hybrid instrument. The amounts included above represent the value
of the host liability.
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Loans and borrowings (continued)

On 29 April 2020, Perfect Commerce LLC, a US subsidiary of Proactis Holdings plc, applied for a US Paycheck Protection
Program (“PPP”) loan and was awarded a loan to the value of £756,000 ($992,000).
The forgiveness of the loan is based on prescribed conditions being met. Although the Board believe that the loan will be
forgiven, based on the fact that this is a new scheme, the terms of which are still being finalised, the Board feel that they
will only have reasonable assurance of its forgiveness once the paperwork is submitted and accepted. At the time of this
acceptance then the appropriate percentage of the loan will be released into the income statement.
£000
Convertible notes
Carrying amount of liability as at 31 July 2019
Issue of convertible notes (€1,000,000)

5,543
888

Accreted interest
Impact of fair value revaluation
The effect of changes in foreign exchange rates

143
(282)
(219)

Carrying amount of liability as at 31 July 2020

6,073

The new loan note was issued on 6 January 2020. The loan note was issued in connection with the contingent payment
payable as part of the consideration for the acquisition of Esize Holdings BV. It is repayable in November 2024. Detail
regarding this prior year acquisition is included in Note 29.
Reconciliation of movements of liabilities arising from financing activities.
Bank loans &
borrowings

US Government
Loan

Convertible
notes
£000

Lease liabilities
(2019: Finance
lease liabilites)
£000

£000

£000

Total
£000

Balance at 31 July 2019
IFRS 16 transition impact

44,215
-

-

5,543
-

57
5,241

49,815
5,241

Balance at 1 August 2019

44,215

-

5,543

5,298

55,056

Changes from financing cashflows
Receipts from loans and borrowings
Repayment of borrowings

830
(2,557)

756
-

-

-

1,586
(2,557)

-

-

-

(976)

(976)

(1,727)

756

-

(976)

(1,947)

The effect of changes in foreign exchange rates

128

-

(219)

(148)

(239)

Other changes
Issue of convertible notes
Impact of fair value revaluation
Capitalised borrowing costs

50

-

888
(282)
-

-

888
(282)
50

1,291
(1,277)

-

143
-

130
(132)

1,564
(1,409)

42,680

756

6,073

4,172

53,681

Finance lease payments
Total changes from financing cashflows

Interest expense
Interest paid
Balance at 31 July 2020
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Loans and borrowings (continued)

2020
£000

2019
£000

41,744

41,034

336

-

Convertible notes

6,073

5,543

Lease liabilities (2019: finance lease liabilities)

3,164

27

51,317

46,604

Secured bank loans

936

3,181

US Government loan

420

-

Lease liabilities (2019: finance lease liabilities)

1,008

30

Total current

2,364

3,211

53,681

49,815

5,543

7,732

48,138

42,083

Non-current
Secured bank loans
US Government loan

Total non-current
Current

Total borrowings
Less:
Cash and cash equivalents, including cash from assets held for sale
Net debt
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Leases

Information presented in this note is in respect of the current period ended 31 July 2020 and is presented in accordance
with IFRS 16. Information in respect of the comparative period ended 31 July 2019 is presented in accordance with IAS 17.
Information in respect of ROU assets, including the carrying amount, additions and depreciation, are set out in Note 11 of
these financial statements. Information in respect of the carrying value and interest arising on lease liabilities is set out in
Note 2. A maturity analysis of lease liabilities is set out below.
The Group also enters into short-term leases and low value leases which are not recognised as ROU assets and lease
liabilities. The expense recognised in the period in relation to these leases is disclosed in Note 6.
The expense relating to variable lease payments not included in the measurement of lease liabilities is disclosed in Note 6.
The total cash outflow for leases is included in the consolidated cashflow statement.
The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied to the lease liabilities in the statement of financial position at
the initial adoption on 1 August 2019 was 2.8%.

Reconciliation to prior year operating lease commitment

As as 1
August
2019
£000

Operating lease commitments as disclosed at 31 July 2019

5,952

Reconciling items:
Effect of discounting (at incremental borrowing rate as at 1 August 2019)

(545)

Effects of short-term and low value leases not recognised under lease liabilities at 1 August 2019

(164)
57

Finance lease liabilities recognised as at 31 July 2019 under IAS 17

5,300

Lease liabilities as at 1 August 2019

Maturity analysis – contractual undiscounted cash flows
- Within one year

2019
£000

1,259

1,312

- Between one and two years

1,160

1,175

- Between two and five years

2,055

2,801

360

664

4,834

5,952

2020
£000

2019
£000

130

-

130

-

- After more than five years

Amounts recognised in Income statement
Interest on lease liabilities adopted under IFRS 16
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22. Disposal Group classified as held for sale
At 31 July 2020, the Group was actively progressing the sale of a non-core element of the Group’s Business Spend
Management business. The Group expects the sale to be completed within 12 months of the year end.
The major classes of assets and liabilities, stated at book value, of the disposal group classified as held for sale at 31 July
2020 are as follows:
2020
£000
Trade and other receivables

9,154

Cash and cash equivalents

1,119

Total assets classified as held for sale

10,273

Trade and other payables

10,429

Total liabilities classified as held for sale

10,429

Revenue relating to this element of the Group’s Business Spend Management business was £416,000 in the financial year
ended 31 July 2020. Revenue for the Group for the current year was £49,571,000. Adjusted revenue of £49,155,000 refers
to the revenue excluding the £416,000 attributable to this element of the business.
There was no gain or loss recognised on the recognition of the disposal group as held for sale.

23.

Provisions

Restructuring
£000

Retirement
Provision
£000

Total
£000

148

508

656

Change in the provision estimate

-

(16)

(16)

Utilisation of prior year provision

Balance at 1 August 2019

(148)

-

(148)

Effects of movements in exchange rates

-

-

-

Balance at 31 July 2020

-

492

492

Restructuring
In the year to July 2018 the Group committed to closing one of its regional offices and had stopped using the office prior
to July 2018. Following the announcement of the closure, the Group recognised a provision of £295,000 for onerous lease
costs. This property has been exited in the current financial year and the provision utilised.
Retirement provision
The retirement provision relates to the employees within the two French subsidiary companies. In France there is
a requirement to make a lump sum pension payment if an employee reaches retirement age whilst employed by the
Company. This provision has been recalculated based on the employees in each entity at the 31 July 2020.
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24. Financial risk management
Overview
The Group has exposure to the following risks
-

Credit risk
Interest rate risk
Currency risk
Liquidity risk

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks and the Group’s objectives and
processes for managing this risk. Further disclosures are included throughout these consolidated financial statements.
Financial instruments policy
Treasury and financial risk policies are set by the Board and have remained unchanged from the previous period. All
instruments utilised by the Group are for financing purposes. The day-to-day financial management and treasury function
is controlled centrally for all operations.
Financial assets and liabilities
The Group’s financial instruments comprise cash and liquid resources, and various items such as trade receivables and trade
payables that arise directly from its operations.
Credit risk
Management has a credit policy in place and the exposure to credit risk is monitored on an on-going basis. Credit evaluations
are performed on all customers requiring credit over a certain amount. The Group does not require collateral in respect of
financial assets.
At the balance sheet date there were no significant concentrations of credit risk. The maximum exposure to credit risk is
represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset, including derivative financial instruments, in the balance sheet.
Interest rate risk
The Group manages its cash position in a manner designed to minimise interest payable on its structured finance facilities.
Surplus cash funds are used to reduce debt. At the year-end date there was exposure to movements in interest rates and a
1% increase in interest rates would reduce profit before tax by approximately £430,000.
Liquidity risk management
The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash reserves and by continuously monitoring both forecast
as well as actual cash flows to enable matching of the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. Sufficient cash is
retained to service short-term financing needs.
Currency risk
The Group is exposed to fluctuations in exchange rates as the majority of its future revenues will be denominated in foreign
currencies, comprising US dollars, Euros, Australian dollars and New Zealand dollars. The Group seeks to remove this risk by
invoicing in sterling but this is largely not possible. Where it is not possible, the Group may hedge such transactions through
foreign exchange forward contracts. The Group also has a majority of its future costs denominated in the same currencies
which provides a natural hedge.
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24. Financial risk management (continued)
Interest rate and currency profile
Financial assets

2020
£000

2019
£000

Trade receivables

6,528

16,298

Cash at bank

4,424

7,732

10,952

24,030

Financial liabilities

2020
£000

2019
£000

Trade payables

2,358

14,470

Other short term liabilities

1,899

1,502

Cash at bank attracted interest at floating rates, which were 0% at the year-end (2019: 0% to 0.55%).

42,680

44,215

Convertible loan notes

6,073

5,543

Lease liabilities (2019: finance lease liabilities)

4,172

57

756

-

57,938

65,787

Bank borrowings

US Government Loan

All of the financial assets and liabilities detailed above are recorded at amortised cost. Bank borrowings are in the form of
a term loan repayable over three years at an interest rate of 1.95% per annum above LIBOR and a revolving credit facility
which is in place for four years at interest rates between 1.75% and 3.50% per annum above LIBOR. On 28 April 2020, the
Group reset its bank facilities with HSBC to include a conditional option to extend the term of the current facility from 31 July
2022 to 31 July 2023. The term loan and the revolving credit facility are secured by way of a debenture over the assets of the
Group and has certain performance criteria related to its ongoing availability.
Maturity profile of financial liabilities

2020
£000

2019
£000

In one year or on demand

6,623

16,002

In one to two years

6,669

3,208

In two to five years

44,646

46,577

57,938

65,787

The currency profiles of the financial assets and financial liabilities are explained in the respective notes.
Fair value of financial instruments
At 31 July 2020 the difference between the book value and the fair value of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities
measured at amortised cost was £Nil (2019: £Nil).
Sensitivity analysis
The Group is materially exposed to changes in interest rates and the Board estimates that a 1% change in interest rate
would result in a £430,000 reduction in profit before tax. The Group is also materially exposed to changes in the exchange
rates, specifically the US dollar and the Euro, and the Board estimates that a 5% weakening in sterling would impact the
Group’s profit before tax by £92,000 and £152,000 respectively.
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25. Commitments
Capital commitments
There were no capital commitments existing at 31 July 2020 or 31 July 2019.

26. Pensions
The Group operates a defined contribution pension scheme for its employees. In addition, in France there is a provision for a
pension payment should an employee reach retirement age whilst employed by the Company.
The pension cost charge for the year represents contributions payable by the Group to the schemes, other personal pension plans
and the French provision movement. The cost in the year amounted to £1,089,000 (2019: £965,000). There were outstanding
contributions at 31 July 2020 of £130,000 (2019: £95,000) and a provision balance of £492,000 (2019: £508,000).

27. Accounting estimates and judgements
The directors discussed with the Audit Committee the development, selection and disclosure of the Group’s critical accounting
policies and estimates and the application of these policies and estimates. The accounting policies are set out in Note 1.
The directors consider that the key estimates made in preparation of the financial statements are:
Carrying value of intangible fixed assets
A number of commercial and financial assumptions and estimates have been made to support both the initial recognition and the
current carrying values of the intangible asset categories of goodwill, customer-related intangible assets, development costs and
software for own use. These are described within Note 12.
The directors consider that the key judgements made in preparation of the financial statements are:
Reallocation of goodwill across cash generating units
Goodwill is initially allocated between the Group’s CGUs by reference to the expected benefits from synergies of a business
combination. In the year the CGUs were reassessed in order to better align to the way the Group is run and to promote consistency
of analysis. As a result, the prior year four CGUs were segmented further into eight CGUs: United Kingdom, United States, France,
Germany, The Netherlands, Global Transactions, Proactis Tenders and bePayd.
Judgement was required to allocate the goodwill. Goodwill associated with Proactis Tenders was split out of the UK based on
original acquisition due diligence reports. France, Germany and Global Transactions goodwill was also split based on information
included within original acquisition due diligence reports. Previously reported goodwill allocated to EUE was allocated between
France, Germany and Global Transactions based on Buyer and Supplier metrics of which Buyer was further split between France
and Germany based on revenue.

28. Related party transactions
Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been eliminated on consolidation and
have therefore not been disclosed.
Remuneration of key management personnel
The remuneration of the directors, who are the key management personnel of the Group, is provided in the audited part of the
Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 40 to 47. In addition, the Group recognised a share-based payment charge under IFRS
2 ‘Share-based Payment’ in respect of the directors of £82,000 (2019: £154,000).
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29. Acquisitions
There were no acquisitions made by the Group in the year ended 31 July 2020.
In the prior year, on 6 August 2018, the Group acquired 100% of the voting equity interests of Esize Holdings BV (‘Esize’).
For the 12 months ended 31 July 2019, Esize Holdings BV and its subsidiary contributed revenue of £5,263,000 and profit
before tax of £756,000. This does not factor in the amortisation of intangible assets that will now be recognised in the Group
accounts.
The following table summarises the acquisition date fair value of each major class of consideration transferred.
Cash
Ordinary shares issued
Convertible loan note
Contingent consideration
Settlement of pre-existing relationship

£000
8,575
1,396
2,680
893
(65)

Total consideration transferred

13,479

The Group has issued €3,000,000 in convertible loan notes with a redemption date of August 2023.
Esize Holdings BV had outstanding debts of €73,000 with its previous owner at the time of acquisition. The Group has
attributed £65,000 of the consideration transferred to the settlement of this debt.
The contingent consideration is calculated based on the estimated likelihood of Esize achieving certain revenue targets in
the 12 months to 31 July 2019. As these targets have been met, the full amount of contingent consideration will be converted
to convertible loan notes post 31 July 2019.
The Group incurred acquisition-related costs of £300,000 on legal fees and due diligence costs. These costs were incurred
in both the year ended 31 July 2018 and 31 July 2019.
The following table summarises the recognised amounts of assets acquired, and liabilities assumed at the date of
acquisition.
Fair value
£000
Property, plant and equipment
114
Customer related intangible assets
3,056
Capitalised development costs
1,505
Other intangible assets
90
Trade and other receivables
753
Cash
210
Trade and other payables
(571)
Deferred revenue
(261)
Deferred tax liabilities
(503)
Total identifiable net assets acquired

4,393

The fair value adjustments relate to the recognition of intangible assets in accordance with IFRSs.
Pre-acquisition carrying amounts were determined based on applicable IFRSs, immediately prior to the acquisition. The
values of assets and liabilities recognised are estimated fair values.
Goodwill arising from the acquisition has been recognised as follows:
Consideration transferred
Fair value of identifiable net assets
Goodwill

£000
13,479
(4,393)
9,086

The goodwill is attributable to the skilled labour force of the acquired business, expected future growth and enhancement
of market share. These values were not recognised as a separate intangible asset on the basis that they could not be
separated from the value generated from the business as a whole. None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be
deductible for tax purposes.
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30. Non-controlling interest
The following subsidiaries have material non-controlling interest (“NCI”).
Name

Principal place of
business/country of
Incorporation

Proactis SA

France

Ownership interest
held by NCI

2020
%

2019
%

11.49

11.49

The following is summarised financial information for the Proactis SA subgroup, prepared in accordance with IFRS, modified
for fair value adjustments on acquisition and differences in the Group’s accounting policies. The information is before intercompany eliminations with other companies in the Group.
Proactis SA Subgroup
2020
£000

2019
£000

Revenue

10,829

12,808

Loss after tax

(2,996)

(531)

(343)

(61)

Loss attributable to NCI
Current assets
Non-current assets

9,752
12,720

Current liabilities

(6,271)

(5,667)

Non-current liabilities

(3,624)

(2,883)

12,778

13,922

1,468

1,600

1,171

(1,592)

(2,090)

(1,632)

Net assets
Net assets attributable to NCI
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents

The Group’s equity interest in Proactis SA remained at 88.51% throughout the financial year.

31. Post balance sheet events
There are no significant or disclosable post balance sheet events.
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Company Balance Sheet
At 31 July 2020

Notes

2020
£000

2019
£000

Investments

35

79,828

96,564

Debtors : Amounts due after more than one year

36

3,200

52

83,028

96,616

10,161

14,835

1,221

1,268

11,382
(9,067)

16,103
(12,808)

2,315

3,295

Non-current assets

Current assets
Debtors : Amounts due within one year

37

Cash at bank and in hand

Creditors – amounts falling due within one year

38

Net current assets
Total assets less current liabilities
Creditors – amounts falling due after more than one year

39

Net assets

85,343

99,911

(47,817)

(46,577)

37,526

53,334

Capital and reserves
Called up share capital

40

9,553

9,522

Share premium account

41

-

83,513

Capital reserve

41

449

449

Equity reserve

41

-

89

Profit and loss account

41

27,524

(40,239)

37,526

53,334

Shareholders’ funds

The following notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
The balance sheet was approved by the Board of Directors on 28 October 2020 and signed on its behalf by:

Tim Sykes
Chief Executive Officer

Richard Hughes
Chief Financial Officer

Company number 05752247
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Share
capital
£000

Share
premium
£000

Capital
reserve
£000

Equity
reserve
£000

Retained
earnings
£000

Total
£000

9,324

81,464

449

80

2,036

93,353

Result for the period

-

-

-

-

(41,417)

(41,417)

Total comprehensive income for the period

-

-

-

-

(41,417)

(41,417)

129

1,267

-

-

-

1,396

10

18

-

-

-

28

-

-

-

29

-

29

At 31 July 2018

Shares issued during the period
Share options exercised
Issue of convertible notes
Convertible loan notes conversion

59

764

-

(20)

20

823

Dividend payment of 1.4p per share

-

-

-

-

(1,419)

(1,419)

Share-based payment charges

-

-

-

-

541

541

9,522

83,513

449

89

(40,239)

53,334

Result for the period

-

-

-

-

(16,143)

(16,143)

Total comprehensive income for the period

-

-

-

-

(16,143)

(16,143)

At 31 July 2019

Issue of ordinary shares related to
business combinations

31

146

-

-

-

177

Share premium reduction

-

(83,659)

-

-

83,659

-

Release of equity component
of convertible notes

-

-

-

(89)

-

(89)

Share-based payment charges

-

-

-

-

247

247

9,553

-

449

-

27,524

37,526

At 31 July 2020

Details of the nature of each component of equity are given in Note 41.
The following notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Company Cash Flow Statement
For the year ended 31 July 2020
2020
£000

2019
£000

Loss for the year

(16,143)

(41,417)

Dividend receipts settled through intercompany accounts

(3,000)

(5,395)

Intercompany charges settled through intercompany accounts

(1,204)

(4,250)

Operating activities

821

1,434

Income tax charge

81

220

Share-based payment charges

82

154

Impairment on investments

16,903

47,550

Operating cash flow before changes in working capital

(2,460)

(1,704)

12

(117)

Movement in trade and other payables and contract liabilities

5,756

8,701

Operating cash flow from operations

3,308

6,880

Finance expense

(1,278)

(1,269)

Income tax paid

(480)

(359)

Net cash flow from operating activities

1,550

5,252

Payments to acquire subsidiary undertakings

-

(8,575)

Net cash flow from investing activities

-

(8,575)

Payment of dividend

-

(1,419)

Proceeds from issue of shares

-

28

Receipts from bank borrowings

830

10,178

Repayment of bank borrowings

(2,557)

(5,286)

(1,727)

3,501

130

-

(177)

178

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

1,268

1,090

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

1,221

1,268

Net finance expense

Movement in trade and other receivables

Investing activities

Financing activities

Net cash flow from financing activities
Effect of exchange rate movements on cash and cash equivalents
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents

The following notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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32. Company accounting policies
Basis of preparation
As used in the financial statements and related notes, the term ‘Company’ refers to Proactis Holdings plc. The separate
financial statements of the Company are presented as required by the Companies Act 2006.
The Company has prepared financial statements that comply with FRS 101 applicable as at 31 July 2020.
These financial statements have been prepared in pounds sterling (£), which is also the functional currency of the Company.
Where relevant, equivalent disclosures have been given in the Group accounts of Proactis Holdings plc. The Group accounts
of Proactis Holdings plc are available to the public and can be obtained as set out in Note 1. Under section 408 of the
Companies Act 2006 the Company is exempt from the requirement to present its own profit and loss account. The parent
company had a loss of £16,143,000 for the year ended 31 July 2020 (2019: loss £41,417,000).
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with applicable accounting standards and under the historical
cost convention.
Certain disclosures have been included in the consolidated notes section of these financial statements in pages 70 to 114.
These include:
disclosures in respect of share-based payments (see Note 5);
certain disclosures required by IFRS 7 Financial Instrument Disclosures on the basis that the consolidated financial
statements include the equivalent disclosures (see Note 24);
disclosures in respect of capital management (see Note 24); and
disclosures in respect of the compensation of Key Management Personnel (see Note 33).
The Company’s considerations over the going concern assumption are the same as those set out in Note 1 to the Group
financial statements. As set out in that note an impairment charge of £14.8m was taken against goodwill at the Group level.
This impairment review at a Company level, when reviewing value in use calculations against investment carrying values,
delivered an impairment charge of £16.9m. During the current financial year the Company completed a capital reduction
which transferred the entire share premium into retained earnings.
After making enquiries; subject to the ongoing support of the Group’s lending bank, the directors have a reasonable
expectation that the Company has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.
Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing these financial statements.
Investments
Fixed asset investments are stated at cost less provision for impairment where appropriate. The directors consider annually
whether a provision against the value of investments on an individual basis is required. Such provisions are charged in the
profit and loss account in the year.
Cash and liquid resources
Cash comprises cash in hand and deposits repayable on demand, less overdrafts payable on demand. Liquid resources are
current asset investments which are disposable without curtailing or disrupting the business and are either readily convertible
into known amounts of cash at close to their carrying values or traded in an active market. Liquid resources comprise term
deposits of more than seven days.
Taxation
The charge for taxation is based on the result for the year and takes into account taxation deferred because of timing
differences between the treatment of certain items for taxation and accounting purposes.
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32. Company accounting policies (continued)
Share-based payments
The Company accounting policies followed are the same as the Group’s policy under IFRS 2 ‘Share-based Payment’. The
policy is shown in the Group accounting policies in Note 1.

33. Employees
The only employees of the Company were the directors.
Details of directors’ remuneration, share options and directors’ pension entitlements are disclosed in the Directors’
Remuneration Report on pages 40 to 47.

34. Employee share option schemes
The Company has granted share options to employees under one Inland Revenue approved EMI scheme incentive plan and
four unapproved share option plans (ESO, ESO 2017, Executive Bonus Plan 2017, LTIP 2017).
The Company recognised total expenses of £82,000 (2019: £154,000) in relation to these equity settled share-based
payment transactions.
Details of the schemes are given in Note 5.

35. Investments
Shares in subsidiary undertakings
£000
Cost
At 31 July 2019

144,114

Disposal of investment in Proactis Benelux BV

(1,948)

Addition of investment into Esize Holdings BV

1,948

Share based payments in relation to subsidiary undertakings
At 31 July 2020

167
144,281

Impairment
At 31 July 2019

47,550

Impairment in the year

16,903

At 31 July 2020

64,453

Carrying amounts
At 31 July 2019

96,564

At 31 July 2020

79,828
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35. Investments (continued)
The disposal of Proactis Benelux was part of a Group simplification process. The entity was acquired by Proactis BV. As a
result of this transaction all the Dutch entities are held under the entity Esize Holdings BV.
The companies in which Proactis Holdings plc’s interest is more than 20% at the year end are as follows:
Subsidiary undertakings

Country of
incorporation

Principal
activity

Proactis Limited a

England and Wales

Software sales and development

Ordinary 100%

Direct

Alito Limited a

England and Wales

Dormant

Ordinary 100%

Direct

Proactis Inc c

Holding

USA

Software sales

Ordinary 100%

Indirect

Australia

Software sales

Ordinary 100%

Indirect

Proactis Overseas Limited a

England and Wales

Intermediate holding company

Ordinary 100%

Direct

Proactis Accelerated Payments Limited a

England and Wales

Dormant

Ordinary 100%

Indirect

Proactis Pty Limited e

PHD Developing Markets Limited f

Mauritius

In process of liquidation

Ordinary 100%

Indirect

EGS Group Limited a

England and Wales

Dormant

Ordinary 100%

Indirect

EGS Group Holdings Limited a

England and Wales

Dormant

Ordinary 100%

Indirect

USA

Intermediate holding company

Ordinary 100%

Indirect
Indirect

Proactis US Holdings Inc c
Intesource Inc c

USA

Managed services

Ordinary 100%

England and Wales

Dormant

Ordinary 100%

Direct

Intelligent Capture Managed Services Limited a England and Wales

Dormant

Ordinary 100%

Indirect

Due North Limited a

Dormant

Ordinary 100%

Direct

Scotland Managed services and software sales

Ordinary 100%

Direct
Indirect

Intelligent Capture Limited a

Proactis Tenders Limited b

England and Wales

Proactis France SAS d

France

Software sales

Ordinary 100%

Proactis SA d

France

Software sales and development

Ordinary 88.51%

Indirect

Proactis Designated Activity Company (DAC) i

Ireland

Managed services

Ordinary 88.51%

Indirect

Proactis GmbH j

Germany Managed services and software sales

Ordinary 88.51%

Indirect

Proactis Deutschland GmbH j

Germany

Software sales

Ordinary 100%

Indirect
Indirect

Proactis SA k
InterSources (UK) Limited a
Trade Ranger US Inc. l

Belgium

Software sales

Ordinary 88.51%

England and Wales

Dormant

Ordinary 88.51%

Indirect

USA

Intermediate holding company

Ordinary 88.51%

Indirect

Hubwoo USA, Inc. l

USA

Intermediate holding company

Ordinary 88.51%

Indirect

Trade-Ranger Management, LLC l

USA

Intermediate holding company

Ordinary 88.51%

Indirect

Trade-Ranger Holdings, LLC l

USA

Intermediate holding company

Ordinary 88.51%

Indirect

Proactis LP l

USA

Software sales and development

Ordinary 88.51%

Indirect

Perfect Commerce Southeast Asia Limited m

New Zealand

Intermediate holding company

Ordinary 100%

Indirect

Perfect Commerce Limited m

New Zealand

Software sales

Ordinary 100%

Indirect

Proactis Euro Hedgeco Limited a

England and Wales

Intermediate holding company

Ordinary 100%

Indirect

Proactis US Dollar Hedgeco Limited a

England and Wales

Intermediate holding company

Ordinary 100%

Indirect

Perfect Commerce, LLC n

USA

Software sales and development

Ordinary 100%

Indirect

Commerce One BPO, LLC n

USA

Dormant

Ordinary 100%

Indirect

Commerce One, LLC n

USA

Software sales

Ordinary 100%

Indirect

Perfect Commerce Operations, Inc n

USA

Software sales

Ordinary 100%

Indirect
Indirect

Perfect Commerce Global Purchasing, LLC n

USA

Managed services

Ordinary 100%

C1 Cat, LLC n

USA

Dormant

Ordinary 100%

Indirect

Compro Business Services, LLC n

USA

Managed services

Ordinary 49%*

Indirect

Proactis Benelux BV g

Netherlands

Liquidated August 2020

Ordinary 100%

Indirect

England and Wales

Dormant

Ordinary 100%

Direct

Esize Holdings BV g

Netherlands

Intermediate holding company

Ordinary 100%

Direct

Proactis BV g

Netherlands

Software sales

Ordinary 100%

Indirect

Perfect Commerce UK Ltd a
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35. Investments (continued)
Proactis US Dollar Hedgeco Limited, Proactis Pty Limited, PHD Developing Markets Limited, Proactis Euro Hedgeco Limited,
Perfect Commerce Southeast Asia Limited and Proactis France SAS are subsidiaries of Proactis Overseas Limited. Proactis
US Holdings Inc is a subsidiary of Proactis US Dollar Hedgeco Limited. Proactis Inc, Perfect Commerce LLC and Intesource
Inc are subsidiaries of Proactis US Holdings Inc. Commerce One BPO LLC, Commerce One LLC, Perfect Commerce
Operations Inc, Perfect Commerce Global Purchasing LLC, C1 Cat LLC and Compro Business Services LLC are subsidiaries of
Perfect Commerce LLC. Perfect Commerce Limited is a subsidiary of both Proactis Overseas Limited and Perfect Commerce
Southeast Asia Limited. Proactis SA (France) and Proactis Deutschland GmbH are subsidiaries of Proactis Euro Hedgeco
Limited. Proactis DAC, Proactis SA (Belgium) and Trade Ranger US Inc are subsidiaries of Proactis SA. Proactis GmbH is a
subsidiary of Proactis DAC. InterSources (UK) Limited is a subsidiary of Proactis SA (Belgium). Hubwoo USA Inc, Trade-Ranger
Management LLC and Trade-Ranger Holdings LLC are subsidiaries of Trade Ranger US Inc. Proactis LP is a subsidiary of
Trade-ranger Holdings LLC. Intelligent Capture Managed Services Limited is a subsidiary of Intelligent Capture Limited. EGS
Group Holdings Limited and Proactis Accelerated Payments Limited are subsidiaries of Proactis Limited. EGS Group Limited
is a subsidiary of EGS Group Holdings Limited. Proactis BV is a subsidiary of Esize Holdings BV. Proactis Benelux BV is a
subsidiary of Proactis BV.

Registered offices of entities are as noted
a

Riverview Court, Castlegate, Wetherby, LS22 6LE England

b

AB1 Building, 48 Huntly Street, Aberdeen, AB10 1SH Scotland

c

2111 East Highland Avenue, Suite B-375, Phoenix, AZ 85016 USA

d

26-28 Quai Gallieni, 92150 Surenes, France

e

Level 9, 123 Albert Street, Brisbane, QLD 4000 Australia

f

c/o Estera Management (Mauritius) Limited, 6th Floor, Tower A, 1 CyberCity, Ebene 72201, Mauritius

g

Leeuwenveldseweg 16 A, 1382LX, Weesp, The Netherlands

i

6th Floor, South Bank House, Barrow Street, Dublin 4 Ireland

j

Bruher Strasse 9, 53119 Bonn Germany

k

Avenue Leon Jourez 34, 1420 Braine-l’Alleud, Belgium

l

10777 Westheimer, Suite 1010, Houston, TX 77042 USA

m

Level 1, Australis Nathan Building, 37 Galway Street, Takutai Square, Auckland, 1010, New Zealand

n

One Compass Way, Suite 120, Newport News, VA, 23606, USA

* Although the Group owns 49% of the entity, it does in fact have effective control over the entity. The subsidiary is therefore
accounted for under the consolidation method.
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35. Investments (continued)
Investment impairment testing
Impairment testing is performed by comparing the carrying value of those assets within each investment to the recoverable
amount, determined on the basis of the investment’s value in use. The value in use is based on the net present value of future
cash flow projections discounted at pre-tax rates appropriate for each Cash Generating Unit (“CGU”). The CGUs have been
allocated against the appropriate investment for the purposes of impairment testing.
The value-in-use calculations are based upon detailed budgets and forecasts prepared over a four-year period, followed by
an extrapolation into perpetuity for the terminal value of expected cash flows at growth rates given below, discounted at the
rates provided below. Growth rates used reflect the best estimates of the long-term growth rate for each CGU. The discount
rates reflect the different risk profiles the directors attach to each income stream and CGU.
Key assumptions used in the value-in-use calculations are as follows:

Long term growth rate

2020
%

2019
%

2.00

2.00

Discount rate (pre-tax rate) UK CGU

10.50

11.47

Discount rate (pre-tax rate) NL CGU

10.62

12.25

Discount rate (pre-tax rate) EU CGU

-

11.86

Discount rate (pre-tax rate) US CGU

10.45

16.51

Discount rate (pre-tax rate) FR CGU

9.20

-

Discount rate (pre-tax rate) DE CGU

11.87

-

Discount rate (pre-tax rate) Global Transactions CGU

9.66

-

Discount rate (pre-tax rate) Proactis Tenders CGU

10.49

-

Discount rate (pre-tax rate) bePayd CGU

10.54

-

Budgeted overall revenue growth rate (average of next four years)

9.79

3.58

Budgeted staff costs growth rate (average of next four years)

1.90

2.00

1

1

The budgeted average revenue growth rates range from around 2% in the most established CGUs to in the region of 29% in the smaller expanding CGUs,

which are growing from a lower base.

The value-in-use calculations performed at 31 July 2020 were prepared based on management’s best estimates of future
performance, taking into account market conditions and the historic performance of each CGU. Based on the value-in-use
calculations prepared for the United States, France and Germany CGUs there was a requirement for an impairment to be
recognised in Proactis Overseas Ltd. Due to dividends received in the year and in prior years, it was also necessary for an
impairment to be recognised in Proactis Tenders Ltd as the value in the entity has been passed up to Proactis Holdings plc.
An impairment of £15,084,000 was recognised for the Proactis Overseas Ltd investment and £1,819,000 for the Proactis
Tenders Ltd investment.
Management has identified that a reasonably possible change in two key assumptions could cause the carrying amount
to exceed the recoverable amount in the Esize Holdings BV investment. An increase of 2.4% in the discount rate or a 3.9%
reduction in initial revenue growth would remove the headroom in the Esize Holdings BV investment.
Management does not believe a reasonable possible change in key assumptions would erode the headroom in the
investment in Proactis Ltd.
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36. Debtors: Amounts due after more than one year
2020
£000

2019
£000

-

52

3,200

-

3,200

52

Deferred tax asset
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings

Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings are interest free and repayable on demand. However, the directors do not expect
to recall the amounts due within 12 months.
The deferred tax asset included within non-current assets relates to deferred tax on share option charges. The deferred tax
asset balance is analysed below and is disclosed as a non-current asset in the balance sheet.
Movement in deferred tax for the year ended 31 July 2020
As at 31
July 2019
£000

Reserve
movement
£000

Income
statement
£000

As at 31
July 2020
£000

52

-

(52)

-

Deferred tax assets
Share options

37. Debtors : Amounts due within one year
2020
£000

2019
£000

Prepayments and contract assets

243

255

Income taxes

350

515

Other taxes and social security
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings

-

240

9,568

13,825

10,161

14,835

Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings are interest free and repayable on demand.
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38. Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year
2020
£000

2019
£000

Bank loans

936

3,181

Trade creditors

397

354

Accruals and contract liabilities

255

425

6,942

7,517

537

-

-

1,331

9,067

12,808

Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings
Other taxes and social security
Other creditors

Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings are interest free and repayable on demand.

39. Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year
2020
£000

2019
£000

41,744

41,034

6,073

5,54

47,817

46,577

2020
£000

2019
£000

936

3,181

Between one and two years

2,942

2,943

Between two and five years

38,802

38,091

42,680

44,215

2020
£000

2019
£000

9,553

9,522

Bank loans
Convertible loan notes

Bank loans are repayable as follows:

Within one year

Terms of the loans are disclosed in Note 20.

40. Share capital

Allotted, called up and fully paid
- 95,532,628 Ordinary shares of 10p each (2019: 95,218,796)
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41. Reserves
Share premium
account
£000

Capital
reserve
£000

Equity
reserve
£000

Profit & Loss
account
£000

83,513

449

89

(40,239)

Shares issued during the period

146

-

-

-

Release of equity component of
convertible notes

-

-

(89)

Loss for the period

-

-

-

(16,143)

(83,659)

-

-

83,659

Share based payment charges (see Note 5)

-

-

-

247

At 31 July 2020

-

449

-

27,524

At 31 July 2019

Share premium reduction

-

Share premium
The Group has issued 313,832 (2019: 1,982,673) ordinary shares of 10p each during the year at a weighted average price of
56.4p (2019: 113.3p) per share, creating a share premium of £146,000 (2019: £2,049,000). Costs totalling £Nil (2019: £Nil)
were offset against the share premium. During the current financial year the Company completed a capital reduction which
transferred the entire share premium into retained earnings. As a result of this the share premium as at 31 July 2020 is £Nil
(2019: £83,513,000).
Capital reserve
The capital reserve arose on issue of share options as part of the deferred contingent consideration for the purchase of Alito
(UK) Limited. The reserve is not distributable.
Equity reserve
The equity reserve comprised of the amount allocated to the equity component for the convertible notes issued by the Group
in August 2017, August 2018. Following a reassessment of the accounting treatment in the current year this reserve has been
released to the Income Statement such that the reserve has a value of £Nil (2019: £89,000).

42. Commitments
There were no capital commitments existing at 31 July 2020 or 31 July 2019.

43. Contingent liabilities
The Company has guaranteed the overdrafts of its subsidiaries, the amount outstanding at 31 July 2020 was £Nil (2019:
£Nil).

44. Post balance sheet events
There are no significant or disclosable post balance sheet events.
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Additional information - unaudited
Reconciliation of alternative performance measures:

Reported
EBITDA
£000

Adjusted
EBITDA
£000

Adjusted
operating
profit
£000

Adjusted
profit
before tax
£000

(19,360)

(19,360)

(19,360)

(19,360)

20

20

20

20

Net interest charge (Notes 7 & 8)

974

974

974

-

Share-based payment charges (Note 5)

247

247

247

247

Amortisation (Note 12)

10,664

10,664

-

-

Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets (Note 12)

14,813

14,813

14,813

14,813

1,642

1,642

-

-

Non-core net expenditure (below)

-

2,844

2,844

2,844

Interest charged on convertible loan notes issued
in respect of the acquisitions of Perfect Commerce
and Esize (Note 20)

-

-

-

143

Fair value and foreign currency impacts on
convertible loan notes

-

-

-

(591)

Amortisation charged on fair value uplift of acquired
capitalised development costs (Note 12)

-

-

1,004

1,004

Amortisation charged on customer-related intangible
assets (Note 12)

-

-

3,479

3,479

9,000

11,844

4,021

2,599

Loss after tax
Add back:
Tax charge (Note 9)

Depreciation (Note 11)

Management has presented the performance measure adjusted EBITDA because it monitors this performance measure at
a consolidated level and it believes that this measure is relevant to an understanding of the Group’s financial performance.
Adjusted EBITDA is calculated by adjusting profit before taxation to exclude the impact of net finance costs, depreciation,
amortisation, share based payment charges and non-core net expenditure.
Adjusted EBITDA is not a defined performance measure in IFRS. The Group’s definition of adjusted EBITDA may not be
comparable with similarly titled performance measures and disclosures by other entities.
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Additional information - unaudited

Loss before taxation

2020
£000

2019
£000

(19,340)

(25,820)

974

1,435

Adjustments for:
Net finance costs
Depreciation

1,642

608

Amortisation

10,664

10,136

Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets

14,813

26,999

247

541

Costs of restructuring the Group’s operations – staff ***
Costs of restructuring the Group’s operations – other ****
Net loss related to assets held for sale (Note 22)
Expenses of acquisition-related activities
Release of contingent consideration
Legal and professional fees

901
142
405
698

1,533
427
128
(914)
417

Non-core foreign exchange impacts *****

698

(425)

11,844

15,065

Share-based payment charges *
Non-core net expenditure **:

Adjusted EBITDA

* Share-based payments expense has been excluded to enable readers to better understand the underlying trade
** Non-core net expenditure includes significant items of income or expenditure associated primarily with the Group’s
acquisition activity and the restructuring programmes (together, “non-core net expenditure”).
*** Costs of restructuring the Group’s operations – staff includes the salary costs of certain staff members in management
position who were made redundant during the year. Management do not consider these costs as recurring.
**** Costs of restructuring the Group’s operations – other includes the cost of dual running offices during transition and the
cost of running offices prior to closure that are considered not to recur next year.
***** Non-core foreign exchange impacts relate specifically to the FX impact in the Income Statement of other items of
non-core expenditure and is included as such to be consistent.
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Explanation for use

The rationale for the
inclusion of these APMs
is to provide users of
the accounts, including
but not limited to
investors and analysts,
with information
designed to assist
them in understanding
the performance of
the business when
adjusting for items of
income or expenditure
that are either
significant and/or
non-recurring. As these
items are reported
within various statutory
captions, it is necessary
to provide adjusted
measures at each of the
statutory caption levels.

Reconciliation to
IFRS measures

Explanation of
any change
New or
existing
APM

Basis
of
calculation

See table on previous
page.

Existing

No change

See table on previous
page.

Existing

No change

Adjusted EBITDA

Earnings before interest,
tax depreciation,
amortisation and
share based payments
excluding significant
items of income or
expenditure associated
primarily with the
Group’s acquisition
activity and the
resultant restructuring
programmes

Adjusted operating
profit

Operating profit
excluding significant
items of income or
expenditure associated
primarily with the
Group’s acquisition
activity and the
resultant restructuring
programmes

Adjusted PBT

Profit before tax
excluding significant
items of income or
expenditure associated
primarily with the
Group’s acquisition
activity and the
resultant restructuring
programmes

See table on previous
page.

Existing

No change

Adjusted EPS

Earnings per share
excluding significant
items of income or
expenditure associated
primarily with the
Group’s acquisition
activity and the
resultant restructuring
programmes

See Note 10

Existing

No change

Adjusted Free Cash
Flow

Net cash flow from
operating activities
excluding significant
items of income or
expenditure associated
primarily with the
Group’s acquisition
activity and the
resultant restructuring
programmes less
reported purchase of
plant and equipment
and development
expenditure capitalised

See Strategic Report

Existing

No change
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Explanation of
any change
New or
existing
APM

Basis
of
calculation

Non-core net
expenditure

Significant items of
income or expenditure
associated primarily
with the Group’s
acquisition activity
and the restructuring
programmes

The Group incurs
significant items of
income or expenditure
as part of its
acquisition activity
and restructuring
programmes which
does not form part
of the core income
or expenditure of the
associated businesses.
It is necessary to
report the results of the
associated businesses
by reporting the noncore net expenditure
separately

Not applicable, see
Strategic Report

Existing

No change

Cost savings

Cost savings resulting
from the restructuring
programme arising
from the acquisition of
Perfect

As part of the
acquisition of Perfect,
the Group identified
potential cost savings
that might arise as a
result of the integration
plan and restructuring
programme. These
potential cost savings
formed a substantial
part of the rationale
for the business
combination from an
investor perspective and
it is necessary to report
the Group’s progress
against that measure

Not applicable, see
Strategic Report

Existing

No change

Total Contract Value
(“TCV”)

The aggregate value
of contracts signed for
additional functionality
or significant service
packages with new
or existing customers
during the year,
specifically excluding
renewals of contracts
for existing functionality

Not applicable

Existing

No change

TCV of new
name deals

The aggregate value
of contracts signed for
additional functionality
or significant service
packages with new
customers during
the year, specifically
excluding renewals of
contracts for existing
functionality

This is a key
performance indicator
of the business
as it indicates the
performance of the
Group’s marketing and
sales capacity and the
relevance of its products
within its markets.
The analysis of TCV
between that signed
with new customers
versus that signed with
existing customers
is also additive and
informative information

Not applicable

Existing

No change
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Definition

Explanation for use

Reconciliation to
IFRS measures

New or
existing
APM

Basis
of
calculation

TCV of upsell deals

The aggregate value
of contracts signed for
additional functionality
or significant service
packages with existing
customers during
the year, specifically
excluding renewals of
contracts for existing
functionality

This is a key
performance indicator
of the business
as it indicates the
performance of the
Group’s marketing and
sales capacity and the
relevance of its products
within its markets.
The analysis of TCV
between that signed
with new customers
versus that signed with
existing customers
is also additive and
informative information

Not applicable

Existing

No change

CAGR three-year
revenue growth

The compound annual
growth rate of revenue
over a three-year
period

This measure gives
users a longer term view
on the performance
of the Group against
its long term objective
of creating a Group of
scale

Not applicable

Existing

No change

ARR

The Group’s estimate
of the annualised run
rate of subscription,
managed service,
support and hosting
revenues contracted
with the Group. It
relates to the value of
revenue recognised at
a point in time, that
relates to services
which will be provided
on a recurring basis in
future years, prior to
the impact of customer
attrition.

This measure enables
users to understand the
level of cover that the
Group has for revenue
in future periods

Not applicable

Existing

No change

Gross margin

Revenue less cost of
sale, divided by revenue

This measure enables
users to understand the
non-discretionary costs
that are necessarily
incurred in the delivery
of its revenue

Revenue
£49,571,000

Existing

No change

Cost of sale
(£5,339,000)
Gross profit
£44,232,000
Gross margin
89.2%

130

Explanation of
any change

Company Overview

Strategic Report

Governance

Financial Statements

Secretary and Advisers
Secretary and Registered Office

Auditors

Richard Hughes
Proactis Holdings plc
Riverview Court
Castle Gate
Wetherby
LS22 6LE

KPMG LLP
1 Sovereign Square
Sovereign Street
Leeds
LS1 4DA

Registrars
Stockbroker and Nominated Adviser
finnCap Limited
60 New Broad Street
London
EC2M 1JJ

Link Asset Services
Northern House
Woodsome Park
Fenay Bridge
Huddersfield
HD8 0GA

Solicitors
Walker Morris
33 Wellington Street
Leeds
LS1 4DL

131

e: info@proactis.com
w: proactis.com
@proactis 2020

100% recyclable.
Please recycle with
your household paper
recycling. Thank you.

